Request for an Incidental Harassment Authorization under the Marine Mammal Protection Act

CGG Atlantic 2D Seismic Program

December 2015

Submitted to:

National Marine Fisheries Service Office of Protected Resources 1315 East-West Hwy Silver Spring, MD 20910

Submitted by:

CGG 10300 Town Park Drive Houston, TX 77072



Cite as:

CGG. 2015. Request for an Incidental Harassment Authorization under the Marine Mammal Protection Act- CGG Atlantic 2D Seismic Program. Prepared by Stooksberry, A.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIA	TIONS	8
OVERVIEV	V OF THE ACTIVITY	10
1.0 DES	CRIPTION OF SPECIFIED ACTIVITY	11
1.1 AI	RCRAFT	11
1.2 VE	SSELS	11
1.2.1	Vessel noise	
1.3 De	SCRIPTION OF SEISMIC EQUIPMENT	
1.3.1	Hydrophone streamer	
1.3.2	Seismic acoustic source	13
1.3.3	Gravity and magnetic passive equipment	16
2.0 DAT	ES, DURATION, AND REGION OF ACTIVITY	16
3.0 MAR	RINE MAMMALS IN THE PROPOSED SURVEY AREA	17
4.0 DESC	CRIPTION OF MARINE MAMMALS IN THE PROPOSED SURVEY AREA	22
4.1 MY	YSTICETI (BALEEN WHALES)	22
4.1.1	Blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus)	22
4.1.2	Bryde's whale (Balaenoptera edeni)	23
4.1.3	Fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus)	23
4.1.4	Minke whale (Balaenoptera acutorostrata)	24
4.1.5	North Atlantic right whale (Eubalaena glacialis)	24
4.1.6	Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)	25
4.1.7	Sei whale (Balaenoptera borealis)	25
4.2 Of	DONTOCETI (DOLPHINS, TOOTHED WHALES, PORPOISE)	26
4.2.1	Atlantic white-sided dolphin (Lagenorhynchus acutus)	26
4.2.2	Atlantic spotted dolphin (Stenella frontalis)	26
4.2.3	Beaked whales	27
4.2.4	Bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus)	28
4.2.5	Clymene dolphin (Stenella clymene)	29
4.2.6	False killer whale (Pseudorca crassidens)	29
4.2.7	Fraser's dolphin (Lagenodelphis hosei)	30
4.2.8	Harbor porpoise (Phocoena phocoena)	30
4.2.9	Killer whale (Orcinus orca)	31
4.2.10	Melon-headed whale (Peponocephala electra)	31
4.2.11	Pantropical spotted dolphin (Stenella attenuata)	31
4.2.12	Pilot whales (Globicephala sp.)	32
4.2.13	Pygmy and dwarf sperm whales (Kogia sp.)	
4.2.14	Risso's dolphin (Grampus griseus)	
4.2.15	Rough-toothed dolphin (Steno bredanensis)	34
4.2.16	Short-beaked common dolphin (Delphinus delphis)	34
4.2.17	Sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)	34

CGG | Atlantic 2D Seismic Program

4

4.2.19 Striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba) 33 5.0 TYPE OF INCIDENTAL HARASSMENT AUTHORIZATION REQUESTED 36 6.0 ESTIMATED NUMBER OF MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENTS 36 6.1 HABITAT-BASED DENSITY MODELS 39 6.2 MARINE MAMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY 44 6.3 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY 44 6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES 45 6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES 52 6.6 ANIMALS PRESENT OUTSIDE OF THE US EEZ 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertaintics 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 6.6.5 Whales 55 7.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKINC 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED	4	4.2.18	Spinner dolphin (Stenella longirostris)	35
6.0 ESTIMATED NUMBER OF MARINE MAMMAL HARRASSMENTS 36 6.1 HABITAT-BASED DENSITY MODELS 39 6.2 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY 44 6.3 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE RESULTS 45 6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES 47 6.5 INTREPETATION OF RESULTS 52 6.6 ANIMALS PRESENT OUTSIDE OF THE US EEZ 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 V	4	4.2.19	Striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba)	35
6.1 HABITAT-BASED DENSITY MODELS. 39 6.2 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY 44 6.3 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE RESULTS 45 6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES 47 6.5 INTERPRETATION OF RESULTS. 52 6.6 ANIMALS PRESENT OUTSIDE OF THE US EEZ 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties. 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 7.4 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 59 <t< th=""><th>5.0</th><th>ТҮРЕ</th><th>OF INCIDENTAL HARASSMENT AUTHORIZATION REQUESTED</th><th></th></t<>	5.0	ТҮРЕ	OF INCIDENTAL HARASSMENT AUTHORIZATION REQUESTED	
6.2 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY 44 6.3 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE RESULTS 45 6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES 47 6.5 INTERPRETATION OF RESULTS 52 6.6 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 Physiological Responses 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT SON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT SON SUBSISTENCE 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT SON SUBSISTENCE 58 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE	6.0	ESTIN	IATED NUMBER OF MARINE MAMMAL HARRASSMENTS	
6.2 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE METHODOLOGY 44 6.3 MARINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE RESULTS 45 6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES 47 6.5 INTERPRETATION OF RESULTS 52 6.6 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 Physiological Responses 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT SON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT SON SUBSISTENCE 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT SON SUBSISTENCE 58 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE	6.1	HAE	ITAT-BASED DENSITY MODELS	
6.4 ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES	6.2			
6.5 INTERPRETATION OF RESULTS 52 6.6 ANIMALS PRESENT OUTSIDE OF THE US EEZ 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Softi start procedure 63 <	6.3	MA	RINE MAMMAL HARASSMENT ESTIMATE RESULTS	45
6.6 ANIMALS PRESENT OUTSIDE OF THE US EEZ 53 6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 55 7.1.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63	6.4	ABU	NDANCE ESTIMATES	47
6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties. 53 6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory effects 56 7.3 MASKING 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6	6.5	Inti	ERPRETATION OF RESULTS	52
6.6.2 Dolphins 54 6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6	6.6	Ani	MALS PRESENT OUTSIDE OF THE US EEZ	53
6.6.3 Whales 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 6.6.4 Porpoise 54 7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY 55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6	(6.6.1	Analysis limitations and uncertainties	53
6.6.4 Porpoise	(6.6.2	Dolphins	54
7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY .55 7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES .55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects .55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects .56 7.1.3 MASKING .57 7.3 MASKING .57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE .58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT .58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS .58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES .59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE .59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE .61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS .61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search .61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure .63 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source .63 11.3.5 Line changes .63 11.3.6 Silent periods .63 11.3.6 Silent periods .63 11.3.7 NONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN .64 13.1 MONITORING .64	(6.6.3	Whales	54
7.1 PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES 55 7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.1 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.1 ONONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 <td< td=""><td>(</td><td>6.6.4</td><td>Porpoise</td><td>54</td></td<>	(6.6.4	Porpoise	54
7.1.1 Non-auditory effects 55 7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.1 MONITORING 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 13.1.1 Visual monitoring 64	7.0	ANTI	CIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY	55
7.1.2 Auditory Effects 56 7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.1 Prevator Source OPERATION 64 13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 13.1.1 Visual monitoring 64 <td>7.1</td> <td>Рну</td> <td>SIOLOGICAL RESPONSES</td> <td>55</td>	7.1	Рну	SIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	55
7.2 BEHAVIORAL RESPONSES 57 7.3 MASKING 57 8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.1 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 13.1.1 Visual monitoring 64	,	7.1.1	Non-auditory effects	55
7.3MASKING.578.0ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE589.0ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT5810.0ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS5811.0MITIGATION MEASURES5911.1VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE5911.2BUFFER ZONE6111.3SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS6111.3.1Pre-watch search6111.3.2Soft start procedure6111.3.3Shut down and power down6211.3.4Testing of the seismic acoustic source6311.3.5Line changes6311.3.6Silent periods6413.0MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN6413.1Visual monitoring64	,	7.1.2	Auditory Effects	56
8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE 58 9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 64 13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 Visual monitoring 64	7.2	BEH	AVIORAL RESPONSES	57
9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT 58 10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS 58 11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES 59 11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION 64 13.1 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 Visual monitoring 64	7.3	MAS	SKING	57
10.0ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS5811.0MITIGATION MEASURES5911.1VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE5911.2BUFFER ZONE6111.3SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS6111.3.1Pre-watch search6111.3.2Soft start procedure6111.3.3Shut down and power down6211.3.4Testing of the seismic acoustic source6311.3.5Line changes6311.3.6Silent periods6312.0ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION6413.1MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN6413.1Visual monitoring64	8.0	ANTI	CIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE	58
11.0MITIGATION MEASURES5911.1VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE5911.2BUFFER ZONE6111.3SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS6111.3.1Pre-watch search6111.3.2Soft start procedure6111.3.3Shut down and power down6211.3.4Testing of the seismic acoustic source6311.3.5Line changes6311.3.6Silent periods6312.0ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION6413.1MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN6413.1Visual monitoring64	9.0	ANTI	CIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT	58
11.1 VESSEL STRIKE AVOIDANCE 59 11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION 64 13.1 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 Visual monitoring 64	10.0	ANTI	CIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS	58
11.2 BUFFER ZONE 61 11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION. 64 13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN. 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 13.1.1 Visual monitoring 64	11.0	MITIO	GATION MEASURES	59
11.3 SEISMIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS. 61 11.3.1 Pre-watch search 61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION. 64 13.1 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN. 64 13.1 Visual monitoring 64	11.	1 Ves	sel Strike Avoidance	59
11.3.1 Pre-watch search .61 11.3.2 Soft start procedure .61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down .62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source .63 11.3.5 Line changes .63 11.3.6 Silent periods .63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION .64 13.1 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN .64 13.1 Visual monitoring .64	11.	2 Buf	FER ZONE	61
11.3.2 Soft start procedure 61 11.3.3 Shut down and power down 62 11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION 64 13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 13.1.1 Visual monitoring 64	11.	3 Seis	MIC ACOUSTIC SOURCE OPERATIONS	61
11.3.3Shut down and power down		11.3.1	Pre-watch search	61
11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source 63 11.3.5 Line changes 63 11.3.6 Silent periods 63 12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION 64 13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN 64 13.1 MONITORING 64 13.1.1 Visual monitoring 64		11.3.2	Soft start procedure	61
11.3.5 Line changes		11.3.3	Shut down and power down	62
11.3.6 Silent periods		11.3.4	Testing of the seismic acoustic source	63
12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION		11.3.5	•	
13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN		11.3.6	Silent periods	63
13.1MONITORING	12.0	ARCT	IC PLAN OF COOPERATION	64
13.1.1 Visual monitoring	13.0	MONI	TORING AND REPORTING PLAN	64
13.1.1 Visual monitoring	13.	1 Moi	NITORING	64
-				
		13.1.2	-	

CGG | Atlantic 2D Seismic Program

5

CITED	LITE	RATURE	.71
14.0	SUGG	ESTED MEANS OF COOPERATION	.68
13.2	Repo	ORTING	.65
13	3.1.3	Fixed 'Big Eye' binoculars	.65

FIGURES

Figure 1	2D seismic research vessel layout.	.11
Figure 2	BOLT 1900/1500 seismic acoustic source array configuration	.13
Figure 3	CGG's proposed 2D Atlantic Seismic Program	.17
Figure 4	Atlantic spotted dolphin sightings recorded during surveys from 1992 - 2014	.41
Figure 5	Predicted annual distribution of the Atlantic spotted dolphin using DSM modeling	.42
Figure 6	Stratified sub-regional northern bottlenose whale predicted distribution model	.43
Figure 7	Speed restrictions and seasonal management areas for North Atlantic right whales	.60

TABLES

Table 1	BOLT 1900/1500 seismic acoustic source array specifications	.13
Table 2	Radial distance from the seismic acoustic source at which received SPL are 160 dB rms and 180 dB rms.	15
Table 3	Marine mammal species known to occur in the proposed survey area.	18
Table 4	No mitigation scenario: estimated number of individual Level A exposures using Southall et al (2007) criteria	
Table 5	Line transect surveys used for the Duke MGEL cetacean habitat-based density models in the Northwest Atlantic models	40
Table 6	Summary of model types used to produce Roberts et al. (2015a) marine mammal habitat-density maps.	44
Table 7	The estimated number of individual exposures of marine mammals to received seismic impulse sound levels ≥ 160 dB rms re 1 μ Pa (Level B harassment) during CGG's proposed 2D Atlantic Seismic Program.	46
Table 8	Functional hearing groups and estimated functional hearing ranges of species known to occur in the proposed survey area.	56

ABBREVIATIONS

0	Degrees
μ	Micro
- 2-D	Two - dimensional
AASM	Airgun Array Source Model
AFAST	Atlantic Fleet Active Sonar Training
AMAPPS	Atlantic Marine Assessment Program for Protected Species
BIA	Biologically Important Area
BOEM	Bureau of Ocean Energy Management
BSEE	Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement
CetMap	Cetacean Density and Distribution Mapping Working Group
CetSound	Cetacean and Sound Mapping
CV	Coefficient of variation
D	Depleted
DD	Data Deficient
DSM	Density surface modeling
DMA	Dynamic Management Areas
dB	Decibel
e.g.	Exempli gratia
ECS	Extended Continental Shelf
EEZ	Economic Exclusion Zone
EN	Endangered
ESA	Endangered Species Act
GAM	Generalized additive model
G&G	Geological & Geophysical
HESS	High Energy Seismic
Hz	Hertz
i.e.	Id est
IHA	Incidental Harassment Authorization
in ³	Cubic inch
kHz	Kilohertz
km	Kilometer
km ²	Square kilometer
kn	Knot
m	Meter
MASOMO	Marine Source Modeling Module
MGEL	Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab
MMPA	Marine Mammal Protection Act
MONM	Marine Operations Noise Model
Ν	North
NARW	North Atlantic right whale
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NEFSC	Northeast Fisheries Science Centers

NOAA	National Oceanographic Atmospheric Administration
NRC	National Resource Council
NC	Not classified
NL	Not listed
NJDEP	New Jersey Department of Environment
NOAA	National Ocean Atmospheric Administration
NTL	Notice to Lessees
NMFS	National Marine Fisheries Service
OCS	Outer Continental Shelf
Pa	Pascal
PAM	Passive acoustic monitoring
PEIS	Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement
PTS	Permanent Threshold Shift
PSO	Protected Species Observer
RAM	Range-dependent Acoustic Model
RMS	Root mean square
SEFSC	Southeast Fisheries Science Centers
SMA	Seasonal Management Areas
TNASS	Trans-North Atlantic Survey
TTS	Temporary Threshold Shift
US	United States
USCG	United States Coast Guard
SAR	Stock assessment report
SE	Southeast
SPL	Sound pressure level
UNCW	University of North Carolina–Wilmington

OVERVIEW OF THE ACTIVITY

CGG, a geophysical company, proposes to conduct a two-dimensional (2D) seismic survey in the federal waters of the Mid- and South Atlantic Ocean region within the 350 nautical mile (nm) US Extended Continental Shelf (ECS) boundary. The proposed survey area is located a minimum of 84 kilometers (km) (50 miles (mi)) from shore and extends from Georgia to Virginia. Water depths in the survey area range from 100 meters (m) (328 feet (ft)) to over 4,000 m (13,123 ft). The proposed 2D seismic survey consists of 53 lines totaling 28,670 line-km.

The purpose of CGG's program is to acquire geophysical data using traditional 2D seismic survey methodology. The operational activity will consist of a seismic research vessel travelling along a predetermined survey line for several hours at an average speed of 4.5 knots (kn). A seismic acoustic source towed behind the vessel releases an energy pulse that is directed vertically to the sea floor. The energy reflects or refracts from the surface and sub-surface of the seafloor based on the density of the geological composition layer. Hydrophones contained in a streamer towed behind the seismic acoustic source record the reflected and refracted signals. The recorded data will be used to render a high resolution image of the Earth's subsurface geologic structures and identify potential oil and gas reserves.

The energy generated by the seismic acoustic source has the potential to disturb or harass marine mammals (i.e., cetaceans) in the survey area. Harassment is a form of "take" as defined under the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA), and is subject to governance under the MMPA. Incidental and unintentional harassment takes are permitted with the issuance of an Incidental Harassment Authorization (IHA) from the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). The NMFS will only authorize the incidental taking of marine mammals by an activity that is not likely to have more than a negligible impact. By definition, an activity has a "negligible impact" on a species or stock when it is determined that the total taking is not likely to reduce annual rates of survival or recruitment (i.e., offspring survival, birth rates) (see C.F.R§ 216.103). A mitigation and monitoring plan is included in CGG's IHA application to ensure any potential effect of the proposed activity on marine mammals and their habitat will be negligible. The plan includes a defined mitigation zone and acquisition boundaries between concurrent surveys. A soft start, shut down, power down, or delayed activation of the seismic acoustic source will also be observed. Monitoring will be carried out using Protected Species Observers (PSO) and Passive Acoustic Monitoring (PAM).

Takes of marine mammals by injury or disturbance associated with vessel collisions are unlikely because vessel strike avoidance measures and visual monitoring will be in place. In addition, the seismic research vessel will be traveling at a travel average speed of 4.5 kn while acquiring seismic data. A reduced vessel speed lowers the chances of an animal strike and has been shown to be effective at reducing right whale deaths (Laist et al. 2001). Therefore, only the activities associated with acoustic impacts that have the potential to result in Level B takes of marine mammals are included in CGG's IHA mitigation and monitoring plan.

This IHA application uses the best available science to assess and minimize the potential for acoustic impacts associated with CGG's proposed activity on marine mammals and their habitat. Any effects on

marine mammals which result from the proposed seismic survey are expected to be short-term and localized.

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SPECIFIED ACTIVITY

CGG's proposed Atlantic 2D Seismic Program consists of 53 survey lines in a 20 km (12 mi) by 20 km (12 mi) orthogonal grid totaling an area of 28,670 line-km. A single seismic research vessel, operating 24 hours a day, will travel along the survey lines to acquire seismic data. The line length will be 300 km (186 mi) to 750 km (466 mi) in length and take approximately 36 to 90 hours to complete. Upon reaching the end of a survey line, the vessel will take four to six hours to turn around and start another line. The seismic acoustic source will be silent during line changes.

The layout of the seismic research vessel and towed seismic acoustic source and hydrophone streamer cable is shown in Figure 1. The towed seismic equipment will remain deployed for the duration of the survey with the exception of necessary maintenance or repair work.





1.1 Aircraft

Offshore operations will be serviced by helicopter(s) operating from an onshore support base location. The helicopter(s) will primarily be used to carry out crew changes but may also be used for personnel medical evacuations. Depending on the severity of the emergency, a helicopter operated by the United States Coast Guard (USCG) may be necessary. Harassment of marine mammals from aircraft operations are not expected to occur due to the flight elevation and minimal duration on the vessel helideck.

1.2 Vessels

A typical seismic research vessel averages 100 m (328 ft) in length and has a crew capacity of about 55 persons. The vessel is expected to remain in the survey area and operate continuously for the duration of the survey. During this time, the vessel will be traveling at speeds ranging between 3.7 kn and 5.4 kn to maintain a safe towing speed for the seismic equipment. The vessel will transit at an average speed of 8.1 kn prior to mobilization and after demobilization from the survey area.

There will be two additional vessels, each on approximately 50 m (164 ft) in length, used during the proposed survey for operational support and maintaining safe conditions. An escort vessel will be used to maintain safe navigation by informing the seismic research vessel of marine debris which may pose a risk to deployed gear. The escort vessel will also communicate a mariners notice to ensure vessels in the area

maintain a safe distance from the deployed seismic equipment. A supply vessel will be present in the survey area to supply fuel, groceries, and general supplies to the seismic research vessel. Both vessels will make port calls to re-supply and change its onboard crew. The supply and escort vessel speed will average ten knots during transits to and from port.

Vessel strikes on Endangered Species Act (ESA)-listed species, strategic stocks, or other marine mammals are not expected to occur due to the slow vessel operating speed of three to five knots and adherence to vessel strike avoidance measures as described in Section 11.1 of this IHA.

1.2.1 Vessel noise

Vessel noise associated with CGG's proposed seismic survey activity will temporarily increase ambient noise levels by a small amount in the general vicinity. The operation is transient in nature and the seismic research vessel, when in production, covers about 1 km (.6 mi) in seven minutes. The survey lines are spaced 20 km (12 mi) apart which reduces the likelihood of multiple interactions with the same marine mammal individuals. A recent study concluded that vessel speed is a significant predictor of noise levels (Houghton et al. 2015). The study, conducted on killer whales, found that reduced vessel speeds resulted in lower levels of received noise. In 2014, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM) released the 'Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Proposed G&G Activities on the Mid- and South Atlantic Outer Continental Shelf' (BOEM PEIS 2014). The PEIS concludes that individuals or groups of marine mammals in the study area would be familiar with various vessel-related noises, particularly within frequented shipping lanes. Although the vessel will produce continuous sounds within the marine environment, the noise is not expected to affect marine mammals to a level which constitutes a take. Long-term habitat degradation as a result of vessel noise is not likely to occur due to the slow transit speed of the seismic research vessel and the mitigation measures described in Section 11.

1.3 Description of seismic equipment

1.3.1 Hydrophone streamer

A hydrophone streamer approximately 10 km (10,000 m) to 12 km (12,000 m) in length will be used to record the refracted and reflected acoustic signals generated by the seismic acoustic source. Aside from the hydrophone sections, the streamer cable is filled with solid polyurethane foam to ensure its floatability. Positioning equipment called 'Birds' will be attached along the length of the streamer cables to maintain the streamer depth.

The towed hydrophone streamer cable is not expected to result in any form of marine mammal harassment. Entanglements are not expected due to the rigidity of the hydrophone streamer cable. The seismic research vessel has a slow operating speed and injury is not expected to occur if a marine mammal makes contact with the hydrophone streamer.

1.3.2 Seismic acoustic source

A BOLT 1900/1500 impulsive seismic acoustic source comprised of 36 acoustic elements which total 5,400 cubic inches (in³) will be used to carry out seismic acquisition operations during the proposed 2D seismic survey. The impulsive seismic acoustic source functions by releasing a controlled, compressed air bubble from the acoustic elements at a pre-planned interval (impulse interval). The air bubble forms, expands, and collapses over a period of one second, resulting in the propagation of acoustic energy into the water column.

The seismic acoustic source is designed to maximize subsurface illumination by focusing energy propagation vertically towards the sea floor with minimal horizontal propagation. Physical characteristics of the marine environment (e.g., water column stratification, water depth, sea floor composition) in the survey area are considered when determining the seismic acoustic source configuration and minimum volume needed to meet the objectives of the proposed survey. The technical specifications for the seismic acoustic source are shown in Table 1 and the seismic acoustic source layout is illustrated in Figure 2.

Width	24 m (78.74 ft)
Depth	7 m (22.97 ft)
Length	16.5 m (54.13 ft)
Number of sub arrays	4
Sub array separation	8 m (26.25 ft)
Number of acoustic elements	36
Total Volume	5,400 in ³
Impulse interval	25 m (65.61 ft)
Impulse duration	1 second

 Table 1 BOLT 1900/1500 seismic acoustic source array specifications

Figure 2 BOLT 1900/1500 seismic acoustic source array configuration



CGG undertook an acoustic modeling study of the proposed 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source to assess sound levels and estimate the distance from the source at which received sound levels could have the potential to impact marine mammals. The total sound energy output (source level) of a seismic acoustic source impulse was assessed with source modeling. The source level was combined with site-specific environmental data to simulate the sound propagating from the seismic acoustic source and predict the distance at which sound levels could result in marine mammal harassment.

1.3.2.1 Seismic acoustic source modeling assessment

The source levels and directivity of the 36 acoustic elements, or components, that comprise the seismic acoustic were predicted with Nucleus+ modeling software. The seismic acoustic source specifications and area-specific environmental data were input to the Marine Source Modeling Module (MASOMO) algorithm to model the full-waveform signature of a seismic pulse at a standard reference distance of 1 m (3.2 ft) below the source. The peak-to-peak pressure signature, or total source level output, of the seismic acoustic source was determined to be 259 dB re 1 μ Pa (137.7 bar-m) at 1 m (3.2 ft).

Nucleus+ software is currently among the most utilized and accepted seismic acoustic source modelling software in the Geological and Geophysical (G&G) industry. The MASOMO algorithm in Nucleus+ defines the pressure signature of a source based on the Kirkwood & Bethe (1942) theory of the oscillating spherical bubble. MASOMO incorporates the Ziolkowski method (1970) for the forward-calculation of source pressure pulses. The software is based on a multi-method approach to design seismic acoustic sources with optimal sound output¹.

1.3.2.2 Sound propagation modeling assessment of the 5,400 in³ seismic source

Sound propagation modeling was used to understand the directional spreading and intrinsic attenuation characteristics (the acoustic field) of a 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source impulse as it relates to the proposed survey area. Then, the radial distances from the seismic acoustic source where received sound levels ≥ 160 dB and ≥ 180 dB re 1 µPa rms were predicted. The current National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) acoustic threshold criteria states that a marine mammal exposed to impulsive broadband sounds can be injured (180 dB rms) or experience disturbance resulting in behavioral shifts (160 dB rms) (NMFS 2000; 2005). The threshold radii for marine mammals were thus predicted using sound propagation modeling. Based on the similar characteristics and configuration between the seismic acoustic source elements, as it relates to the directivity and propagation in water, it is reasonable to assume the acoustic propagation assessment of a 5,400 in³ acoustic array carried out for the BOEM PEIS 2014 (Appendix D) will realistically portray the sound propagation results for CGG's proposed seismic acoustic source. The BOEM acoustic propagation modeling methodology is summarized in the following paragraph.

BOEM selected 15 specific geographic sites within the Mid- and South Atlantic OCS to assess the potential effects of oil and gas exploration surveys. JASCO's Marine Operations Noise Model (MONM), based on Range dependent Acoustic Model (RAM) code was used to estimate the acoustic fields for a 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source at each site. MONM-RAM has been validated in multiple sound source verification tests (Hannay et al. 2009; Aerts 2008; O'Neill et al. 2010; Warner et al. 2010) and uses a wide-

¹ Dragoset 1990, 2000; Laws et al. 1990; Langhammer 1994; Landrø 1992; Parkes et al. 1986; Strandenes et al. 1992.

angle parabolic equation method to calculate the acoustic wave equation in range-varying environments (Collins 1993). The 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source level, derived from JASCO's Airgun Array Source Model (AASM), was input into MONM-RAM and combined with transmission loss to predict the acoustic field, or threshold radii distance. The software estimated the transmission loss of the seismic acoustic source as a function of range and depth at each site using specific acoustic inputs associated with the environment:

- Water column sound speed profiles
- Bathymetric grid of the modeled area
- Geoacoustic profile based on seafloor composition

Multiple scenarios were run at each site to account for the attenuation of sound in changing water properties with different seasons. ArcGIS (ESRI 2012), a geographic information system, was used to georeference the 15 sites over CGG's proposed 2D area. Only the 13 modeling sites which occurred in or near the survey area were considered for CGG's site-specific assessment. Water depths of the selected modeling sites ranged between 100 m (328 ft) to 4,300 m (14,108 ft).

The modeling assessment indicated that the largest acoustic field for a 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source array is typically associated with sites in intermediate water depths between 200 m (820 ft) to 900 m (2,953 ft). Table 2 shows the distances at which the 160 dB and 180 dB rms sound levels are expected to be received for a 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source array. The mean radial distance from the seismic acoustic source at which received sound levels are \geq 160 dB rms is 6,751 m (22,149 ft). The mean radial distance at which received sound levels are \geq 180 dB rms is 907 m (2,976 ft) from the seismic acoustic source. Based on the average 180 dB rms threshold criteria, a 907 m (2,976 ft) mitigation zone was established for shut down and power down procedures. The mean radius for 160 dB rms levels was incorporated into the marine mammal exposure modeling (Section 6) to assess the number of individuals which may be disturbed by the seismic acoustic source. Marine mammals are not reasonably likely to be exposed to sound levels associated with CGG's activity that exceed the injury threshold criteria because the mitigation and monitoring plan is designed to avoid such events.

Table 2 Radial distance from the seismic acoustic source at which received SPL are 160 dB rms and 180 dB rms. Estimated distance from the source at which sound levels are ≥160 dB or ≥180 dB re 1µ Pa rms. Water depths range from 100 m (328 ft) to 4,300 m (14,108 ft).

NMFS criteria threshold levels	Predicted ensonification radii		
180 dB (Level A harassment)	737 m (2,418 ft) – 1,094 m (3,589 ft)		
160 dB (Level B harassment)	5,013 m (16,447 ft) – 8,593 m (28,192 ft)		

1.3.3 Gravity and magnetic passive equipment

Gravity and magnetic data is used to identify and assess geologic formations and can assist in seismic modeling and processing parameters. A Gravity Meter will be used to passively measure minute fractional changes of the Earth's gravitational field and identify variations in rock density. A Magnetometer will be used to measure the Earth's magnetic field at a specific point in space and detect geological anomalies. A sensor will be towed from either a fixed point on the seismic research vessels stern or from one of the seismic acoustic source sub arrays.

Marine mammal entanglement or injury with the magnetometer is not anticipated because of the structure and positioning of the equipment in addition to the seismic research vessels slow operating speed. There will be no acoustic impact on the marine environment because the equipment is passive.

2.0 DATES, DURATION, AND REGION OF ACTIVITY

CGG proposes to conduct a 2D seismic survey in the federal waters of the Mid- and South Atlantic region extending from Georgia and Virginia (see Figure 3). Seismic activities will be carried out a minimum of 80 km (50 mi) from shore in water depths ranging between 100 m (328 ft) to over 5,000 m (16,404 ft). The survey is planned to take place from July through December 2016. The actual starting date of the survey is subject to vessel availability and the timeliness of the regulatory review process. The commencement of the survey should not be effected by the 120 day IHA regulatory review process required to receive an approved G&G operational permit (MMPA 101(a)(5)D)(iii)). However, there is a possibility that the proposed survey will not start in accordance with the proposed dates. As a precaution, the three modeling analyses (i.e., seismic acoustic source model, sound propagation model, individual acoustic exposure model) and the species distribution described in our IHA account for the entire year rather than the stipulated six month period. The duration of the survey is contingent on weather, mobilization, demobilization, marine life mitigation action, and other potential technical maritime or seismic associated down time. The survey area is located well outside of the defined North Atlantic right whale (NARW) Southeast (SE) and Mid-Atlantic Seasonal Management Areas (SMA) (see Figure 3).



Figure 3 CGG's proposed 2D Atlantic Seismic Program

3.0 MARINE MAMMALS IN THE PROPOSED SURVEY AREA

There are 32 species represented by two sub-orders of cetaceans (Mysticeti and Odontoceti) that have been known to inhabit the proposed seismic survey area. All marine mammal species are under NMFS jurisdiction and protected by the MMPA of 1972. Of the 32 species, six are protected under the ESA. These cetaceans are considered endangered and comprise five species of baleen whale (blue whale, North Atlantic right whale, fin whale, humpback whale, sei whale) and one species of toothed whale (sperm whale). Pinnipeds (seals) are not addressed in this section because they are not expected to be near CGG's proposed seismic survey area.

Table 3 provides a general summary of each marine mammal species status, occurrence, and abundance. The species stock abundance estimates are based on the NOAA 2014 Stock Assessment Report (SAR) (Waring et al. 2015), unless otherwise cited. The MMPA defines the term stock as a group of marine mammals of the same species or smaller taxa in a common spatial arrangement that interbreed when mature (50 CFR 216.3). Section 4 describes each species distribution and behaviors in detail.

Species	ESA Status ¹	MMPA Status ²	Occurrence (in survey area)	Habitat	Predicted Seasonality (in survey area)	Stock Abundance ³	Population Trend		
Suborder Mysticeti									
Family Balaenidae (1	right w	hales)							
North Atlantic right whale (Eubaleaena glacialis)	EN	D	Uncommon	Coastal to deep water	Fall to spring	476 ⁴	Increasing		
Family Balaenopteri	dae (ro	quals)							
Blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus)	EN	D	Rare	Coastal to deep water	DD	DD	DD		
Bryde's whale (Balaenoptera edeni)	NL	NC	Rare	Coastal to continental shelf edge	DD	DD	DD		
Fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus)	EN	D	Common	Continental shelf and slope	Mid-winter to mid-summer	1,6185	DD		
Minke whale (Balaenoptera acutorostrata)	NL	NC	Uncommon	Coastal to deep water	Possible spring to winter	20,7416	DD		
Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)	EN	D	Common	Coastal to deep water	Possible year- round presence	823 ⁷	Increasing		

Table 3 Marine mammal species known to occur in the proposed survey area.

Sei whale								
(Balaenoptera borealis)	EN	D	Rare	Continental shelf edge to deep water	Fall to winter	237 ⁸	DD	
Suborder Odontoceti	(toothe	d whales	\$)	1				
Family Ziphiidae (bea	aked wl	nales)						
Blainville's beaked								
whale	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf to slope	DD		DD	
(Mesoplodon								
densirostris)				Continue 1				
Sowerby's beaked whale	NL	NC	Uncommon	Continental shelf edge to oceanic	DD		DD	
(Mesoplodon bidens) Gervais' beaked						7,0929		
whale	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf to oceanic	DD		DD	
(Mesoplodon europaeus)				oceanic				
True's beaked whale	NL	NC	Uncommon	Continental shelf slope	DD		DD	
(Mesoplodon mirus) Cuvier's beaked				Continue 1				
whale	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf edge and slope	DD	6,532 ¹⁰	DD	
(Ziphius cavirostris)				brope				
Family Physeteridae	(sperm	whale)						
Sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)	EN	D	Common	Continental shelf edge to deep water	DD	2,28811	DD	
Family Delphinidae (dolphins)								
Atlantic spotted dolphin (Stenella frontalis)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf to deep water	Year-round	44,715	DD	
Atlantic white-sided dolphin (Lagenorhynchus acutus)	NL	NC	Uncommon	Continental shelf to deep water	Year-round	48,819 ¹²	DD	

Bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus)	NL	D	Common	Coastal to deep water	Year-round	77,532 ¹³	DD
Clymene dolphin (Stenella clymene)	NL	NC	Uncommon	Coastal to deep water	DD	DD	DD
False killer whale (Psudorca crassidens)	NL	NC	Rare	Coastal to deep water	DD	442	DD
Fraser's dolphin (Lagenodelphis hosei)	NL	NC	Rare	Shallow to deep water	DD	DD	DD
Killer whale (Orcinus orca)	NL	NC	Rare	Coastal to deep water	DD	DD	DD
Pygmy sperm whale (Kogia breviceps)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf edge to deep water	Year-round	3,785 ¹⁴	DD
Dwarf sperm whale (Kogia sima)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf	Year-round	5,785	DD
Melon-headed whale (Peponocephala electra)	NL	NC	Rare	Continental shelf edge to deep water	DD	DD	DD
Long-finned pilot whale (Globicephala melas)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf edge to deep water	Year-round	5,636 ¹⁵	DD
Short-finned pilot whale (Globicephala macrorhynchus)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf edge to deep water	Year-round	21,51516	DD
Pantropical spotted dolphin (Stenella attenuata)	NL	NC	Common	Coastal to continental shelf slope	Year-round	4,439 17	DD

Risso's dolphin (Grampus griseus)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf to deep water	Year-round	18,250 ¹⁸	DD
Rough-toothed dolphin (Steno bredanensis)	NL	NC	Rare	Continental shelf edge to deep ocean	DD	271	DD
Short-beaked common dolphin (Delphinus delphis)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf to deep ocean	Year-round	173,486	DD
Spinner dolphin (Stenella longirostris)	NL	NC	Rare	Continental shelf edge to deep water	DD	DD	DD
Striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba)	NL	NC	Common	Continental shelf edge to deep water	Year-round	54,807 ¹⁹	DD
Family Phocoenidae (porpoise)							
Harbor porpoise ²⁰ (Phocoena phocoena)	NL	NC	Uncommon	Coastal to continental shelf edge	Winter to spring	79,883	DD

1 US Endangered Species Act: EN = Endangered, T = Threatened, DL = Delisted, NL = Not listed.

2 US Marine Mammal Protection Act: D = Depleted, NC = Not Classified.

3 DD = Data Deficient

4 Best abundance estimate based for the Western Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

5 Best abundance estimate based for the Western Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

6 Best abundance estimate for the Canadian East Coast stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

7 Best abundance estimate for Gulf of Maine stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

8 Best abundance estimate for Nova Scotia stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

9 Best abundance estimate for all Mesoplodon spp. beaked whales (Waring et al. 2015)

10 Best abundance estimate for Cuvier's beaked whale (Waring et al. 2015)

11 Best abundance estimate based on Palka (2012) is likely underestimated because it does not consider whales under the surface (Waring et al. 2014)

12 Best abundance estimate for Western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

13 Western North Atlantic offshore stock (Waring et al. 2015)

14 Best abundance estimate include both dwarf and pygmy sperm whales (Waring et al. 2014)

15 Best abundance estimate for western North Atlantic stock based on Palka (2012)

16 Best abundance estimate for western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

17 Best abundance estimate for western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2007)

18 Best abundance estimate for western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b)

19 Best abundance estimate for western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2014)

20 Gulf of Maine/Bay of Fundy stock

4.0 DESCRIPTION OF MARINE MAMMALS IN THE PROPOSED SURVEY AREA

This section provides detailed information for the 32 species, listed in Section 3, that are known to occur in the US Mid- and South Atlantic Ocean and could be present in the proposed survey area. This section also discusses the northern bottlenose dolphin that is considered extralimital in the survey area but was identified in the marine mammal exposure estimates. An extensive literature review based on multiple sighting survey programs and other data resources was undertaken to assess each species' seasonal and spatial distribution throughout the year. The literature includes the Atlantic Marine Assessment Program for Protected Species (AMAPPS) 2010 to 2014 vessel and aerial sighting surveys, preliminary marine mammal habitat-based density models for the Northwest Atlantic (Roberts et al. 2015a), BOEM 2014 PEIS, NOAA SAR, Department of the Navy (DoN) training operations, OBIS-NODES, historical stranding records (Byrd et al. 2014; Schmidly 1981), and other species-specific research reports.

Cetacean distribution in the US East Coast Atlantic may be influenced by different variables such as sea surface temperature, water depth, and topography. Seasonal shifts in cetacean distribution can be attributed to prey availability in nutrient-rich upwelling areas of high sea floor relief for animals such as sperm whales, bottlenose dolphins, and baleen whales. Many cetacean species, such as the Atlantic spotted dolphins and Clymene dolphins, favor warm productive waters along the Gulf Stream and North Atlantic Drift.

LaBrecque et al. (2015) published an expert review identifying 18 Biologically Important Areas (BIA) for cetaceans within US waters along the East Coast. The review identifies the migratory, feeding, and reproductive areas for small and resident populations of minke whales, sei whales, fin whales, North Atlantic right whales (NARW), humpback whales, harbor porpoises, and bottlenose dolphins. All BIA are located north of the survey area with the exception of the NARW which has established calving grounds and migratory corridor in the Florida to Virginia continental shelf waters.

4.1 Mysticeti (Baleen whales)

4.1.1 Blue whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*)

Blue whales inhabit the deep ocean, and less often coastal areas, between sub-polar and sub-tropical latitudes (Yochem & Leatherwood 1985). Blue whales are prey-driven, preferring areas rich in krill, and make poleward movements in the spring and summer to feed (NOAA OPR 2015e; Kenney et al. 1985). Migration related to reproduction is unknown; however, winter calving likely occurs in warmer tropical waters (Reeves et al. 2002).

In the waters of the US Atlantic 200 nm Economic Exclusion Zone (EEZ), historical records of blue whale observations most often occur above 40^{0} N during all seasons (Roberts et al. 2015g; AMAPPS 2014, 2013; Deibich 2014; Waring et al. 2011; DoN 2008). There is not enough data for the North Atlantic to ascertain seasonal migration routes and distribution for the western North Atlantic stock. The actual

southern limit of the blue whale is unknown (Waring et al. 2011). Blue whales are expected to be rare in the proposed survey area.

4.1.2 Bryde's whale (*Balaenoptera edeni*)

Bryde's whales prefer highly productive tropical to warm temperate waters worldwide. This species is known to associate along continental shelf breaks (Davis et al. 2002) and coastal upwelling areas (Siciliano et al. 2004). Bryde's whales are typically sighted individually or in pairs, although larger groups have been reported in feeding areas (NOAA OPR 2015b). Like other baleen whales, some populations of Bryde's whale are thought to migrate to higher latitudes in the summer and southern latitudes in the winter (NOAA OPR 2015b). There is no known geographical or seasonal distribution pattern for this species along the US East Coast Atlantic.

Bryde's whales are considered rare in the western North Atlantic and are not classified within a management stock (BOEM PEIS 2014). Historical stranding and sighting records indicate Bryde's whales infrequently inhabit waters from Florida to Virginia (Roberts et al. 2015; Waring et al. 2013; DoN 2008; Schmidly 1981; Cummings 1985). Information regarding the distribution of Bryde's whales along the US East Coast is gleaned mostly from stranding records. Bryde's whales are not likely to be encountered in the proposed seismic survey area but are included in our take requests as a precautionary measure.

4.1.3 Fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus)

The western North Atlantic stock of fin whale is the most abundant along the continental shelf waters extending northward from Cape Hatteras (GMI 2010; Lawson et al. 2009). Major feeding grounds have been identified north of the survey area from New York to Maine during late spring to early fall (LaBrecque et al. 2015; Waring et al. 2015a). Previous studies suggest that the western North Atlantic population has a dominant presence year-round and plays a significant role in the ecosystem processes (Hain et al. 1992; Kenney et al. 1997). Research from Hain et al. (1992) predicts a fin whale calving period in the Mid-Atlantic between the months of October to January. However, this assumption is based on stranded cow and calf pair observations and has not been verified. Although there is no defined migration corridor for fin whales within the US East Coast Atlantic EEZ, a report by Clark (1995) suggests fin whales migrate south to the West Indies in the fall (LaBrecque et al. 2015).

Based on the available literature, fin whales are most likely to inhabit waters northward of South Carolina from mid-winter through summer months. Abundance is anticipated to be the most concentrated along the continental shelf and slope north of Cape Hatteras (Hain et al. 1992; CETAP 1982). The Roberts et al. (2015e) habitat-model for fin whales in the survey area predicts the highest presence will be along in water depths less than 200 m (656 ft) from January to May. The model predictions are consistent with AMAPPS data that recorded multiple sightings of fin whales as far south as North Carolina during 2011 to 2014 ship and aerial surveys. The 2013 summer AMAAPS survey recorded fin whales in deep oceanic waters off the coast of North Carolina.

4.1.4 Minke whale (Balaenoptera acutorostrata)

Minke whales are believed to be the most abundant of the *Balaenopteridae* family and occur in polar, temperate, and tropical waters throughout the world (NAMMCO 2015). In the western North Atlantic, minke whales migrate to the warmer waters of the Gulf Stream along the continental shelf in the spring and travel farther offshore in autumn; abundant detections were found off the southeastern US and the Caribbean during winter (Risch et al. 2014). Minke whales are thought to be present year-round in latitudes north of 40° N, with the highest densities during summer and autumn (Roberts et al. 2015q). A feeding ground BIA was defined off the coast of New York to Maine from spring to late autumn (LaBrecque et al. 2015).

Sightings of the Canadian East Coast stock of Minke whale are expected to be infrequent within the proposed survey area. There is no known BIA within or near CGG's proposed survey area. Minke whales are predominantly distributed along the continental shelf or in waters <100 m (328 ft) deep.

4.1.5 North Atlantic right whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*)

The western Atlantic stock of North Atlantic right whales (NARW) resides in coastal or shelf waters but has been known to travel into deep water (Whitt et al. 2013). NARW are considered one of the most endangered whale species because of historical over-exploitation by commercial whaling (NOAA OPR 2015d; Clapham et al. 1999). Right whales have been listed as endangered under the Endangered Species Conservation Act since 1970 and are also protected under the MMPA. Current threats include ship collisions, entanglement with fishing gear and habitat degradation. NMFS has taken steps to reduce the threats from ship strikes and fishing gear. The 2014 Atlantic Right Whale Consortium report suggests a positive and slowly accelerating population recovery (Pettis and Hamilton 2014).

A report by LaBrecque et al. (2015) based on a comprehensive literature analysis outlines migratory, feeding, and reproductive corridor BIA for NARW in the US East Coast Atlantic. NARW feed on copepods and other zooplankton from February through December in shallow waters from New England to Canada. Beginning in November, NARW individuals migrate south to nursery areas in the shallow coastal waters from Florida to North Carolina. Individuals consist primarily of pregnant females although non-pregnant females have been observed (Schulte & Taylor 2012; New England Aquarium 2015). Right whales return to feeding grounds north of the survey area in March and April. Individual NARW migration to offshore waters outside of calving areas has been observed on occasion (Waring et al. 2015b). However, there is insufficient research to understand the extent of the migration. Non-calving right whales remain north of the survey area, and travel further offshore to mating areas in the Gulf of Maine from late autumn to early winter (Cole et al. 2013).

The proposed survey area is located well outside of any National Oceanographic Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) designated NARW critical habitat areas. The likelihood of encountering a NARW is low as the western-most boundary of the proposed survey area is located along the continental shelf edge in water depths no less than 100 m (328 ft) deep. The most likely time that a NARW could be within range of our proposed operations is during periods of migration and calving from November to April.

It is highly unlikely a ship strike will be caused by the seismic research vessel during the operation due to the slow vessel speed. Precautions will be taken nonetheless during the proposed survey to reduce the likelihood of ship strikes or disturbance from the acoustic source (see Section 11).

4.1.6 Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)

Humpback whales have a broad seasonal distribution and occur in all oceans from the Artic to Antarctic (Reeves 2002). The Gulf of Maine stock of humpback whale is thought to migrate in the open ocean and along the continental shelf (Barco et al. 2002; GMI 2010). Humpback whales feed on Atlantic herring and sandlace in the cold, productive waters of the Gulf of Maine from as early as March until as late as December (LaBrecque et al. 2015). Payne et al. (1986) suggests a relationship between humpback whale feeding strategies and areas of high bathymetric variation. Beginning in late October, most humpbacks migrate south to the breeding and calving grounds in the West Indies until returning north in July (Waring et al. 2015b; LaBrecque et al. 2015). Research suggests that some juvenile and adult humpback whales may not migrate as far south as other whales, but instead spend time feeding in the US Mid-Atlantic (Wiley et al. 1995; Clapham et al. 1993; Kraus et al. 2005).

Humpback whales are most likely to occur in the survey area during early winter and late spring to early summer months. The Roberts et al. (2015n) habitat-based density model for the humpback whale predicts that the highest population density in the proposed survey area is along North Carolina's continental shelf edge. An acoustic monitoring study conducted from November to April in Onslow Bay, North Carolina, recorded humpback vocalizations along the shelf edge (Hodge and Read 2014). AMAPPS sighting and acoustic surveys conducted between 2011 to 2014 recorded humpbacks south of the survey area in the winter. A few sightings of humpback whales were recorded from late winter through late summer along the Virginia and North Carolina continental shelf.

4.1.7 Sei whale (*Balaenoptera borealis*)

Sei whales typically inhabit temperate to subpolar waters on the continental shelf edge and slope (NOAA OPR 2012a). NOAA SAR has adopted the IWC's stock definition "Nova Scotia Stock" in the absence of available species data for sei whales in the western North Atlantic (Waring et al. 2015b). Population densities are most prevalent from the Gulf of Maine to the Labrador Sea (AMAPPS 2010-2013; Roberts et al. 2015w). In addition to sightings surveys, abundance and distribution information for sei whales are derived from acoustic surveys (Cholewiak et al. 2013; Debich et al. 2014; Hodge and Read 2014), genetically validated bycatch (Wenzel et al. 2013), and stranding reports (Byrd et al. 2014). Prieto et al. (2012) estimates the present population in certain areas of the North Atlantic may exceed 10,000 animals. However, Roberts et al. (2015w) predicted a habitat-density model for sei whales with an estimated a population abundance of 2,600 in the US East Coast EEZ.

The Nova Scotia population is thought to be prey driven and associated with copepod-rich and euphasidrich feeding areas north of the survey area from spring to autumn (LaBrecque et al. 2015; Prieto et al. 2014). During the winter season, Mitchell & Chapman (1977) suggests that sei whales migrate along the shelfbreak to unidentified grounds in lower latitudes. However, Prieto et al. (2014) reported findings that the sei whales inhabiting North Atlantic waters migrate from feeding grounds to wintering grounds off northwestern Africa. There is not enough information to define a migration corridor or reproduction grounds within the US East Coast Atlantic EEZ (LaBrecque et al. 2015).

Sei whales are anticipated to be rare in the survey area. The continental shelf break, where this species typically inhabits, represents only a small portion of the proposed survey area. Historical sightings and acoustic recordings in the survey area are few in number and infrequent when compared to latitudes north of Cape Cod. Sei whale presence in the survey area will most likely be near the continental shelf edge from North Carolina to Virginia during the fall and winter seasons. Sei whale vocalizations have been recorded in Florida waters (Norris et al. 2014; Debich et al. 2013) and Onslow Bay, North Carolina during the autumn and winter months (Debich et al. 2014; 2013; Hodge and Read 2014). Byrd et al. (2014) reported a single sei whale stranding in North Carolina during the month of February.

4.2 Odontoceti (dolphins, toothed whales, porpoise)

4.2.1 Atlantic white-sided dolphin (Lagenorhynchus acutus)

Atlantic white-sided dolphins are found primarily in temperate to sub-polar waters along the continental shelf and slope and in deep waters (Hammond et al. 2008; Palka et al. 1997). Like many other cetaceans, this species is associated with areas of high seabed relief (Reeves et al. 2002). White-sided dolphin densities are greatest north of the survey area, from George's Bank to the Gulf of Maine. Infrequent sightings have occurred along the Mid-Atlantic Bight to South Carolina during the winter and spring months (Roberts et al. 2015bb; Waring et al. 2015b; Selzer and Payne 1988). In the late spring, the western North Atlantic stock is thought to migrate north to areas associated with the Gulf Stream (Waring et al. 2015b).

Atlantic white-sided dolphins are considered uncommon in the general area of the proposed seismic survey. Habitat-based models produced by Roberts et al. (2015bb) included only one sighting in the survey area off the coast of Virginia in over 23 years of line transect sighting surveys. There were no recordings of white-sided dolphins in the survey area in four years of aerial and shipboard AMAPPS data. A few sightings were recorded off the coast of Virginia in the summer and fall (DoN 2008). This suggests that the known seasonal distribution of Atlantic white-sided dolphins may be broader than generally thought.

4.2.2 Atlantic spotted dolphin (Stenella frontalis)

The population distribution of the western North Atlantic stock of Atlantic spotted dolphins is primarily located along the continental shelf within or near the 200 m (656 ft) isobath (Hammond et al. 2012). Research suggests their shallow water presence is to pursue migratory fish (Perrin et al. 1994). Atlantic spotted dolphins are present from Florida to Virginia during all seasons (AMAPPS 2010 to 2014; Waring et al. 2014; Griffin & Griffin 2004). A majority of sightings have been made in shallow waters less than 200 m (720 ft) in the survey area. However, sightings are also common in deep oceanic waters.

According to the Roberts et al. (2015) prediction models, spotted dolphin abundance in the survey area will be lowest during winter months and highest in spring and summer months. Data from the 23 years of sighting surveys used in the models indicates that Atlantic spotted dolphins are most concentrated in the continental shelf and slope waters of North Carolina and Virginia.

4.2.3 Beaked whales

There are six species of beaked whales which may be present in the proposed survey area. These include one species of the genus *Ziphius*, four species of the genus *Mesoplodon*, and one species of the genus *Hyperoodon*. There is much unknown about the spatial and seasonal distribution of the beaked whale family due to this species' inconspicuous nature and the difficulty of differentiating visually between species at sea. Hence, data is commonly acquired through stranding records. Roberts et al. (2015f) predict that all beaked whale species are distributed along the continental shelf out to deep waters. This is consistent with research that suggests that this deep-diving species feeds primarily on fish and mesopelagic squid (Culik et al. 2004). Based on historical sighting survey data along the US East Coast and Canada, beaked whale sightings are most common in late spring to summer (Waring et al. 2014). Due to the difficulty in distinguishing confidently between species, the NOAA SAR predicts an abundance estimate of 7,092 (Waring et al. 2014) for all *Mesoplodon sp.*

4.2.3.1 Blainville's beaked whale (Mesoplodon densirostris)

The North Atlantic stock of Blainville's beaked whales are most commonly observed in intermediate to deep temperate and tropical waters between Caribbean to Nova Scotia (MarineBio 2013). *M. densirostris* is believed to be one of the most common of all the species of *Mesoplodon* (Pitman 2009). Two previous studies report that the Blainesville's beaked whale tends to carry out deep foraging dives in water greater than 835 m (2,723 ft) during the night and remain closer to the surface during the day (Tyack et al. 2006; Baird et al. 2008). There is not enough research available to show distinct seasonal migration and movement (NOAA OPR 2012b).

It is possible that Blainesville's beaked whale could be present in the survey area during the proposed survey. During the 2013 AMAPPS spring survey, Blainville's beaked whales were sighted between North Carolina to Maryland in waters 60 m (196 ft) to over 1,219 m (4,000 ft) in depth.

4.2.3.2 Cuvier's beaked whale (Ziphius cavirostris)

The western North Atlantic stock of Cuvier's beaked whales are typically sighted in late spring to summer along the continental shelf edge and steep depth gradients in the US East Coast Mid-Atlantic region (Waring et al. 2014). Cuvier's beaked whales are distributed in tropical to temperate waters worldwide. However, there is little data available to get a clear understanding of seasonal and migratory patterns. *Ziphius cavisostris* typically travel alone or in small groups of around seven individuals (Reeves et al. 2002). This species is seemingly prone to mass stranding² (Taylor et al. 2004).

Cuvier's beaked whales were sighted during the 2012 to 2014 AMAPPS surveys. Sightings were reported from February through May in water depths between 200 m (650 ft) to over 4,000 m (13,123 ft) off the coast of North Carolina and north of CGG's proposed survey area. Based on the available sighting records, the Cuvier's beaked whale will likely be the most commonly observed beaked whale species during our proposed seismic survey.

² A mass stranding is an event where two or more dolphins or whales (other than a mother/calf pair) strand at the same time in close proximity to one another (IFAW 2015).

4.2.3.3 Gervais' beaked whale (Mesoplodon europaeus)

Gervais' beaked whales in the western Atlantic Ocean have been known to occur along the continental shelf edge and oceanic waters from Florida to Cape Cod (Waring et. al 2013). Aside from preferring deep, warmer waters there is no seasonal distribution data available due to the difficulty in distinguishing between species. The Gervais' beaked whale is thought to be relatively common in the waters along the US East Coast (IUCN 2014).

4.2.3.4 Sowerby's beaked whale (*Mesoplodon bidens*)

In the North Atlantic, Sowerby's beaked whales inhabit temperate waters between 200 m (650 ft) to 1,500 m (5,000 ft) deep (Reeves et al. 2002). Species data available for the Sowerby's beaked whales is taken from acoustical surveys (Cholewiak et al. 2013), bycatch records (Wenzel et al. 2013), and visual surveys (Palka 2012).

The summer AMAPPS 2014 survey reported Sowerby's beaked whale sightings north of the proposed survey area. Stranding records are primarily north of the survey area except for two stranding considered as vagrant in Florida and Georgia (Carwardine 1995; DoN 2008). It is unlikely that Sowerby's beaked whales will be encountered because they are predominantly located north of the survey area.

4.2.3.5 True's beaked whale (Mesoplodon mirus)

True's beaked whales are a pelagic species (Buffrenil 1995) that reside in temperate North Atlantic waters from the Bahamas to Nova Scotia (Waring et al. 2014). In 1993, a pod was observed during a survey off the coast of North Carolina along the continental shelf slope in waters around 1,097 m (3,600 ft) deep (Tove 1995). According to OBIS-SEAMAP (Halpin et al. 2009), there is only one record of True's beaked whale in the survey area. The single record was a stranding record by the Virginia Aquarium in autumn of 2003. A few strandings were also recorded on the coastline of North Carolina to New York over the last ten years. The True's beaked whale is expected to be uncommon in the survey area.

4.2.3.6 Northern bottlenose whale (*Hyperoodon ampullatus*)

The Northern bottlenose whale is the largest beaked whale in the North Atlantic. This species is believed to inhabit deep, cold to subarctic waters in the North Atlantic. The southernmost record available for this species is a stranding record in Rhode Island (Mead 1989; Reyes 1991). Based on extensive literature research, the Northern bottlenose whale is considered an extralimital species in CGG's proposed survey area. Only one individual was found in a longline net survey towed from Florida to Massachusetts (Garrison 2007).

4.2.4 Bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*)

Bottlenose dolphins are distributed throughout the world in temperate and tropical seas (Culik 2004). In the North Western Atlantic, bottlenose dolphins exist in two genetically and morphologically distinct forms: coastal and offshore (Waring et al. 2015b). The coastal morphotype will not be discussed in great detail because it is unlikely that these dolphins will occur in the survey area. There is evidence that some bottlenose dolphin populations make small-scale migratory movements northward of New Jersey during summer and fall months and southward to Virginia and North Carolina during the winter and spring months

(DoN 2008). However, other stocks are known to inhabit the same geographical range year-round (Waring et al. 2015b). Group size generally ranges from individuals to large herds of several hundred (Roberts et al. 2015). Mesopelagic fish and squid serve as the primary food source for bottlenose dolphins (Wynne & Schwartz 1999; Reyes 1991). Bottlenose dolphins are known to associate with pilot whales and right whales (NOAA OPR 2015c).

In the survey area, bottlenose dolphins are anticipated to occur commonly throughout the year along the continental shelf break out to waters beyond the EEZ (Waring et al. 2015b; AMAAPS 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014). Habitat-based density models (Roberts et al. 2015) for the US East Coast Atlantic show the highest densities are offshore of North Carolina and Virginia for all seasons. The models also predict a greater latitudinal distribution, and overall abundance, in the survey area to occur in late winter. Bottlenose dolphin presence in the survey area is anticipated to be slightly lower from April to June.

Although bottlenose dolphins are historically known to strand individually or in large groups (Schmidly 1981) there has been an abnormally high number of reported stranding events along the US East Coast Atlantic since July 2013 (1,827 as of July 2015; NOAA OPR 2015a). A NOAA research team has proposed viral infection as the tentative cause of the "Unusual Mortality Event" (NOAA OPR 2015a).

4.2.5 Clymene dolphin (*Stenella clymene*)

Clymene dolphins are native to the tropical and sub-tropical waters of the Atlantic Ocean (Jefferson & Curry 2003). Clymene dolphins are considered to occur routinely in the western North Atlantic despite the fact that sightings have been historically rare (Waring et al. 2014). This species is known to associate with the continental shelf edge and Gulf Stream (Fertl et al. 2003) feeding on fish and squid (Culik 2004). There is not enough available data to be able to predict confidently a geographical or temporal distribution pattern for this species. Sightings and strandings of Clymene dolphins have been infrequently reported from Florida to Virginia over the last 23 years (Roberts et al. 2015); AMAPPS 2013; AMAPPS 2011; DoN 2008). This species occurrence in the general survey area is anticipated to be the most concentrated along the continental shelf slope between North Carolina and Virginia. All sightings have been made from March to October, peaking in July and August. However, it should be noted that only off-shelf sighting surveys occurred during these months and a distribution pattern cannot be determined with certitude due to the lack of survey coverage. Clymene dolphin can also be difficult to distinguish between other dolphin species such as the spinner dolphin. Other evidence implies Clymene dolphins occur year round in the Southwest Atlantic (DoN 2008).

4.2.6 False killer whale (*Pseudorca crassidens*)

False killer whales are broadly distributed in tropical to cooler temperate waters (NOAA OPR 2013). This species is predominantly found in deep waters greater than 3,000 m (1,000 ft) but has also been observed in shallow coastal waters (Baird 2002). Abundance and distribution data has been acquired through sighting, stranding, and bycatch records (Waring et al. 2014). There is not enough data or research to estimate the population size or determine a seasonal distribution pattern for this stock. The western North Atlantic stock is considered separate from the northern Gulf of Mexico stock despite no evidence of genetic differentiation (Waring et al. 2014). This species is known for mass stranding (Schmidly 1981).

False killer whales are expected to be rare in the proposed survey area. Only a handful of false killer whales have been recorded during marine mammal sighting surveys; periodic stranding events have also been known to occur (Roberts et al. 2015k; Waring et al. 2014; AMAPPS 2014, 2011). Based on available information, the western North Atlantic population of false killer whales ranges from Florida to Maine.

4.2.7 Fraser's dolphin (Lagenodelphis hosei)

The distribution and abundance of the western North Atlantic stock of Fraser's dolphin is highly uncertain and migratory behaviors are unknown (Waring et al. 2014). However, this species is known to associate with upwelling areas (NOAA OPR 2015f). Fraser's dolphins reside mainly in deep, tropical waters over 1,000 m (3,000 ft), although shallow water observations have occurred on occasion (Culik 2004). Their diet consists of squid, deep water fish, and shrimp (Wynne and Shwartz 1999; Carwardine 1995). Fraser's dolphins are notorious for actively schooling in large herds and have been associated with other species including melon-headed whales, Risso's dolphins, bottlenose dolphins, and sperm whales (Culik 2004). A population estimate is not available for the North Atlantic stock due to lack of data.

The likelihood of encountering Fraser's dolphins during the proposed seismic survey is rare. Decades of sighting survey data has yielded only two sightings in the US East Coast Atlantic. A group sighting of 75 Fraser's dolphins was observed along the continental edge of North Carolina during the spring 2011 AFAST Hatteras Aerial Survey. The other sighting occurred during the same survey in late summer when a group of 250 individuals was sighted offshore of North Carolina in waters 3,300 m (10,826 ft) deep (NMFS 1999).

4.2.8 Harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*)

The Gulf of Maine/Bay of Fundy harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) is the only porpoise species that occurs in the Atlantic. As the stock name implies, this species is most often found in sub-polar to cool-temperature waters remaining less than 63° F (17° C) (Read 1999). Harbor porpoises are typically concentrated along the coastal and continental shelf but are known to occur in deeper waters (Palka et al. 1996). According to Waring et al. (2015a), their geographical range extends from North Carolina to Canada throughout the winter and until early spring. This is consistent with the stranding data from North Carolina that indicates that most strandings take place during migration periods between January and April (Webster et al. 1995; Byrd et al. 2014). As water temperatures increase, species abundance is most prevalent north of Delaware until the temperature drops in the fall season (Waring et al. 2015b).

The presence of harbor porpoises in the survey area is expected to be uncommon because there is only a small percentage of the survey area for which water depths are less than 200 m (656 ft) isobath, where they are known to occur. Based on extensive literature review, sightings are unlikely to occur in the proposed seismic survey area before December and after May (AMAPPS 2013; 2014; Roberts et al. 2015m; Waring et al. 2015). The likelihood of sightings is further reduced as harbor porpoises are not inclined to bow ride and typically avoid vessels (Wynne and Schwartz 1999).

4.2.9 Killer whale (Orcinus orca)

Killer whales are considered to have the most cosmopolitan distribution of all marine mammal species (Culik 2004). They can be found in coastal and pelagic ecosystems from the tropics to the Arctic (Morin et al. 2015). Although the western North Atlantic stock of killer whale is considered rare in the US EEZ (Lawson & Stevens 2014; Forney & Wade 2006), there is evidence of seasonal distribution patterns which coincide with prey availability (Waring et al. 2015a; Foote et al. 2014). NOAA SAR does not estimate population abundance for the western North Atlantic stock of killer whale due to insufficient data. Group size tends to be small (NOAA OPR 2015g).

Killer whales are anticipated to be rare in CGG's proposed survey area. Historical sighting records dating from 1758 to 2012 conclude that killer whales are present year-round in the coastal and deep waters of the northwest Atlantic Ocean, north of 40^{0} N (Lawson & Stevens 2014). This study also reported that killer whales are most abundant in Canada from June to September and less prevalent in the US EEZ territory. Only four sightings were recorded in 23 years of sighting survey data used in the Roberts et al. (2015k) predicted density model for killer whales. All four sightings occurred well north of the proposed seismic survey area. However, the spring 2014 AMAPPS aerial survey recorded a single group of 12 animals in waters less than 100 m (328 ft) deep off the coast of North Carolina.

4.2.10 Melon-headed whale (*Peponocephala electra*)

Melon-headed whales have a pantropical distribution and prefer deep oceanic waters beyond the continental shelf (Perryman 2002; Waring et al. 2007). There is no population abundance estimate or known seasonal distribution for the western North Atlantic stock due to insufficient data. Melon-headed whales are often confused with pygmy killer whales because they share similar behavioral and physical characteristics. A distinguishing factor is that melon-headed whales are highly social and more likely to be seen in large, tightly packed pods (Culik 2004).

Sightings in the proposed survey area are expected to be rare. Roberts et al. (2015p) reported only four sightings of melon-headed whales in 23 years of line transect sighting survey data. All sightings were in the deep offshore waters of North Carolina and Virginia. A single melon-headed whale or pygmy killer whale (a confident species identification was not possible) was recorded in waters near the EEZ around 34⁰ N during the summer AMAPPS 2011 GU-11-02 survey. It should be noted that this species is known to mass strand (NOAA OPR 2012d).

4.2.11 Pantropical spotted dolphin (Stenella attenuata)

Pantropical spotted dolphins inhabit the tropical to temperate waters of the western North Atlantic Ocean (BOEM PEIS 2014). Like other *Stenella*, the pantropical spotted dolphin is found predominantly along the continental shelf and slope. This pelagic species feeds in shallower waters during the day and moves into deeper waters at night (NOAA OPR 2014a). At sea, pantropical spotted dolphins can be difficult to distinguish from other long-beaked oceanic dolphin, particularly the Atlantic spotted dolphin (Jefferson et al. 1993). Pantropical spotted dolphins are gregarious and known to school in large groups (Culik 2004). Calving and mating occurs throughout the year (NOAA OPR 2014a).

There is not a substantial amount of sighting and acoustic records for pantropical spotted dolphins along the US East Coast. However, there is enough information to identify waters from Florida to Maine as a potential year-round pantropical spotted dolphin habitat (Roberts et al. 2015s; AMAPPS 2011; Halpin et al. 2009; Waring et al. 2007). The NOAA SAR population estimate for the western North Atlantic stock is 4,439 individuals (Waring et al. 2007). Pantropical dolphins could be common in the proposed survey area.

4.2.12 Pilot whales (*Globicephala sp.*)

The genus *Globicephala* encompasses two subspecies: the long-finned pilot whale (*Globicephala melas*) and short-finned pilot whale (*Globicephala macrorhynchus*). Globally, the latitudinal range of *Globicephala sp.* varies (Reeves et al. 2002). However, both species are known to associate with the Gulf Stream and thermal fronts (Waring et al. 2015b). Movement from shallow to deep waters is thought to be in response to seasonal prey availability (Culik 2004). The primary food sources for pilot whales include squid, mackerel, and cod (Olson & Reilly 2002; Abend & Smith, 1997; Jefferson et al. 1993). In the US Atlantic EEZ, there is some overlap in species distribution between 35^{0} N and 40^{0} N. In addition, both *G. melas and G. macrorhynchus* have been observed stranded beyond their typical habitat (Waring et al. 2015b). Assessing density and abundance estimates is challenging due to the uncertainty of range distribution and the difficulty in differentiating between species at sea.

Pilot whales are susceptible to both individual and group stranding. Stranding events have been recorded from Florida to Maine over several decades (Waring et al. 2015b). In most cases the cause is unknown, but some events have been linked to fisheries interaction and pollution (Waring et al. 2015b). The risk of a mass stranding is compounded by the fact that pilot whales have herding tendencies and may travel in large tight-knit pods (Culik 2004).

Long-finned pilot whales have a cool temperate to subpolar distribution (Reeves et al. 2002). Calving periods occur between late spring and autumn in areas north of the survey area (Reeves et al. 2002). Long-finned pilot whales are highly social and have been known to associate with other marine mammal species, particularly with Atlantic white-sided dolphins (Culik 2004). In the survey area, long-finned pilot whales are expected to be present north of 42^{0} N.

Short-finned pilot whales are more broadly distributed in warm temperate and tropical waters (Jefferson et al. 1993). This species appears to be nomadic (Culik 2004). The Northwest Atlantic population of short-finned pilot whales is anticipated to be most common species occurring south of 42^o N, along the continental shelf from Virginia to Florida (Baird 2015; Waring et al. 2015b).

Pilot whales are expected to be common in the survey area. Based on the known distribution, most sightings are expected to be short-finned pilot whales. The Roberts et al. (2015t) habitat-based density model for pilot whales predicts continental shelf abundance to build from late winter into summer, peaking in July. Species distribution is the most concentrated along the northwest portion of the survey area throughout the year. However, their distribution also extends, to a lesser extent, southward to Florida. During the spring and summer month's pilot whales become more concentrated in oceanic waters from 1,000 m (3,600 ft) to 4,000 m (14,400 ft). Abundance drops steadily from late summer to winter as pilot whales move north and south of the survey area.

4.2.13 Pygmy and dwarf sperm whales (Kogia sp.)

Pygmy sperm whales (*Kogia breviceps*) and dwarf sperm whales (*Kogia sima*) comprise the family Kogiidae in the US East Coast Atlantic. *Kogia spp.* inhabits temperate and tropical waters seaward of the continental shelf throughout the world (Waring et al. 2014). Their diet consists primarily of deep-sea cephalopods and fish (Staudinger et al. 2014). *K. breviceps* and *K. sima* are inconspicuous and generally difficult to distinguish at sea although they are known to log on the water surface (Jefferson et al. 1993). The ability to differentiate between *Kogia* species and speculate distribution or migration patterns has largely been acquired through stranding records (McAlpine 2002). Culik (2004) suggests that migration can occur from shallow to deep waters during summer months. Historical records indicate that Kogia are present year-round from Florida to Maine (Roberts et al. 2015o; Byrd et al. 2014; AMAPPS 2013; AMAPPS 2011). Research by Byrd et al. (2014) reports that individual and group (mostly cow-calf pairs) stranding events occur year-round on the North Carolina coast; stranding is highest mid-winter and mid-spring. Dwarf sperm whales were reported to be stranded most commonly. Byrd's report concludes that the stranding numbers are disproportionate with respect to previously recorded *Kogia spp.* population estimates and biostatistical assumptions used in some studies could underestimate actual population size.

In the Northern Hemisphere, pygmy sperm whale mating and calving seasons peak from March to August (NOAA OPR 2014b). This species travels in a group size averaging less than six individuals (Culik 2004). The western North Atlantic stock of pygmy sperm whales is the most often sighted of the Kogia species. The pygmy sperm whale is considered to have a more oceanic distribution than dwarf sperm whales (Reeves 2002).

Dwarf sperm whales are the smallest of the whale species. Like *K. breviceps*, they are typically sighted in calmer conditions. This species is believed to be distributed in shallower waters than pygmy sperm whales as sightings occur more often on the continental shelf edge (Wynne & Schwartz 1999). Group size is slightly larger than *K. breviceps*, comprising groups of up to ten animals (Culik 2004).

Kogia spp. sightings are likely to be infrequent in the survey area as this species is generally inconspicuous and has been known to shy away from vessels (Berini 2009).

4.2.14 Risso's dolphin (Grampus griseus)

The western North Atlantic stock of Risso's dolphin associates with the continental shelf break, sea mounts, and upwelling areas year-round. Crustaceans, fish, and cephalopods are the primary food source for this pelagic species (Jefferson et al. 1993; NOAA OPR 2012c). Risso's dolphins carry out seasonal shifts in distribution, associating with areas of primary productivity (Culik 2004). From spring to fall, their geographic distribution extends from Florida to Massachusetts (Waring et al. 2015b; CETAP 1982; AMAPPS 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014). The population is generally distributed along the mid-Atlantic Bight and into oceanic waters during winter months (Payne et al. 1984).

Risso's dolphins typically travel in group sizes between five and 30 individuals and have been observed with other cetaceans including porpoises, sperm whales, pilot whales, and bottlenose dolphins (NOAA OPR 2012c; Culik 2004). Behaviorally, they tend to shy away from vessels and, at times, may exhibit acrobatic, active swimming (Wynne & Schwartz 1999). This dolphin species is not known to bow ride.

Risso's dolphins are expected to be common throughout the survey area year-round.

4.2.15 Rough-toothed dolphin (Steno bredanensis)

Rough-toothed dolphins are a pelagic species that prefer warmer temperate to tropical waters (Reeves 2002). This species is well-known for fast, acrobatic swimming and occasional bow-riding (Wynne & Schwartz 1999). There is not enough available data to ascertain the seasonal distribution and abundance of the western North Atlantic stock of rough-toothed dolphins. Based on shipboard and aerial sighting and acoustic surveys from 1998 through 2013, the western North Atlantic stock of rough-toothed dolphins is broadly distributed from the coast to beyond the EEZ (Robert et al. 2015; Waring et al. 2014; AMAPPS 2013, 2011). Sightings have occurred from Florida to New York. There is no data available for autumn and winter surveys.

There is a possibility that rough-toothed dolphins will be present in the survey area during the proposed survey. However, sightings are expected to be rare.

4.2.16 Short-beaked common dolphin (Delphinus delphis)

Along the US East Coast, the western North Atlantic stock of common dolphin generally inhabits waters northward of 32° N and associates with the Gulf Stream features (Waring et al. 2015a; Jefferson et al. 2009). Population distribution is concentrated along the continental shelf edge between 100 m (328 ft) to 2,000 m (6,560 ft) deep (BOEM PEIS 2014). Squid and small schooling fish are a typical food source for common dolphins (Pusineri et al. 2007). Group size ranges from just a few individuals to several thousand (Culik 2010). Common dolphins have been known to associate with other species and exhibit highly active swimming and bow-riding (Wynne & Schwartz 1999; Palka et al. 2005).

Common dolphins were recorded in the survey area in all seasons during the 2010 to 2014 AMAPPS sighting surveys. Sightings were most frequent from mid-winter to mid-summer as far south as North Carolina. Most sightings were between 100 m (328 ft) to 200 m (656 ft). Beginning in mid-summer, the majority of observations were recorded in deeper waters north of the survey area. AMAPPS records are generally consistent with large-scale sighting surveys used in the NMFS 2014 SAR for the western North Atlantic stock of short-beaked common dolphins and a recent marine mammal tagging research survey (Baird 2015).

4.2.17 Sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*)

Sperm whales inhabit every ocean in the world and associate with areas of high primary and secondary productivity (Wong et al. 2014). In the western North Atlantic, the geographic distribution of sperm whales may be driven by social structure (Waring et al. 2015a). Females and juveniles generally inhabit tropical and subtropical waters whereas males have a broad seasonal distribution into higher latitudes (Waring et al. 2015a). Male sperm whales have been known to associate with deep canyons in the summer and then broaden their distribution in the winter, possibly due to changes in prey (Jaquet et al. 2000). Historical sighting data from 1780 to 1920 provide evidence of a seasonal distribution pattern of sperm whales in the northwest Sargasso Sea during the spring and summer months (Smith et al. 2012).

Sperm whales are expected to be present in the survey area year-round. The majority of sightings are likely to be along the continental shelf and edge and oceanic waters from North Carolina to Virginia. During the winter, population abundance is generally concentrated offshore Cape Hatteras in water depths between 100 m (328 ft) to over 2,000 m (6,561 ft) (AMAPPS 2014, 2013, 2011). In the spring and summer, sperm whale population density and distribution extends northward with the warming currents along the continental shelf and into deep waters along the Mid-Atlantic Bight to George's Bank (Waring et al. 2015a). As autumn approaches, the main distribution moves to lower latitudes around the Mid-Atlantic Bight. The 2014 NOAA SAR predicts that the western North Atlantic stock population estimate of 2,288 individuals is underestimated because dive-times were not incorporated into the assessment (Waring et al. 2015a).

4.2.18 Spinner dolphin (Stenella longirostris)

Spinner dolphins are found in coastal and oceanic tropical waters around the world (Roberts et al. 2015z). The western North Atlantic stock is presumed to inhabit deep waters seaward of the continental shelf (Waring et al. 2015a). Spinner dolphins may dive to depths of over 300 m (984 ft) to feed on mesopelagic fish, squid, and shrimp (Culik 2004). Like other *Stenella* species, spinner dolphins are gregarious and may travel in large schools of mixed species (NOAA OPR 2014c). There is no population estimate or known seasonal distribution for Spinner dolphins in the US Atlantic EEZ due to the paucity of sightings (Waring et al. 2014).

Spinner dolphin sightings have occurred infrequently in the proposed survey area (Waring et al 2015; AMAPPS 2010; CETAP 1982). Sightings are from North Carolina to Virginia in water depths greater than 1,000 m (3,280 ft). All sightings occurred in spring and summer months, the latter being the most prevalent. Other sightings were recorded north of the survey area during AMAPPS surveys. Stranding records show a potential presence from Florida to North Carolina (Waring et al. 2015a). This species is not expected to be common in the proposed survey area.

4.2.19 Striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba)

Striped dolphins inhabit productive tropical and warmer temperate waters worldwide (Jefferson et al. 2008). The US western North Atlantic stock is typically found along the continental shelf to the Gulf Stream from North Carolina to Maine (Waring et al. 2014). Striped dolphins are gregarious and have been known to travel in pods of more than 20 individuals (BOEM PEIS 2014; Mullin et al. 2004).

Striped dolphins are expected to be in the survey area year-round. Based on the Roberts et al. (2015aa) habitat-models for striped dolphins, abundance is anticipated to be most prevalent from spring to early summer, peaking in April and May. The models also predict density distribution to extend into deep oceanic waters northward of South Carolina during summer. These predictions are consistent with spring and summer AMAPPS (2011; 2013; 2014) aerial and shipboard surveys. Striped dolphins are anticipated to be most prevalent north of the survey area from autumn through mid-winter (Roberts et al. 2015aa). Only one sighting occurred as far south as Florida during a Southeast Cetacean Aerial Survey (SEFSC) in February of 1995 (OBIS-SEAMAP).

5.0 TYPE OF INCIDENTAL HARASSMENT AUTHORIZATION REQUESTED

Except with respect to certain activities not pertinent here, the MMPA defines "harassment" as: any act of pursuit, torment, or annoyance which (1) has the potential to injure a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in the wild [Level A harassment]; or (2) has the potential to disturb a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in the wild by causing disruption of behavioral patterns, including, but not limited to, migration, breathing, nursing, breeding, feeding, or sheltering [Level B harassment].

CGG requests the issuance of an IHA pursuant to Section 101(a) (5) of the MMPA for incidental harassment of a small number of marine mammals by exposure to underwater sound during the proposed exploration survey in 2016. The impulsive sound generated by the seismic acoustic source has the potential to take marine mammals by Level B harassment. The behavioral response will depend on the individual marine mammal, the received sound level, and the activity the animal is engaged in at the time of exposure. The seismic acoustic source is not expected to disturb more than a small number of marine mammals or have more than a negligible effect on their populations based on the mitigation and monitoring plan described in Sections 11 and 13. Effects of the proposed seismic survey activity on whales and dolphins are expected to be temporary and localized. Takes by mortality or injury (Level A harassment) are not requested in CGG's IHA application because they are expected to be avoided to the extent practicable when the mitigation and monitoring measures prescribed in Section 11 and 13 are applied.

6.0 ESTIMATED NUMBER OF MARINE MAMMAL HARRASSMENTS

This section addresses the estimated number of marine mammals that could be exposed to sound levels generated by the impulsive seismic acoustic source that are ≥ 160 dB re 1 µPa rms (hereafter referred to as 160 dB rms). NMFS has stated that a marine mammal exposed to sounds within this threshold could experience behavioral shifts significant enough to constitute a "take by harassment" (NMFS 2001). NMFS does not provide specific guidance or requirements for IHA applicants for the development of take estimates and multiple exposure analysis. CGG's method for quantifying the predicted number of exposures (harassments) is explained below and is based on (1) marine mammal habitat-based density data; (2) sound propagation modeling results; (3) the survey duration and coverage area; and (4) species stock population data. The estimated number of exposures, the requested take authorizations by Level B harassments (160 dB rms), and the associated population impact are shown in Table 7.

Level A takes are not requested in this IHA application because they are expected to be avoided to the extent practicable when the mitigation and monitoring measures prescribed in Section 11 and 13 are applied. These measures are focused on effectively minimizing takes and represent a best practice approach. The short duration of acoustic exposures to marine mammals during the proposed survey are unlikely to result in any long-term deleterious consequences to either individuals or species populations.

NMFS has required that our IHA application address "unadulterated" (unmitigated) Level A exposures estimates for marine mammals in order for the agency to conduct a complete analysis. CGG strongly opposes addressing a potential impact that does not consider the role of mitigation and monitoring described

in this IHA application. Regardless, the estimates shown in Table 4, are based on BOEM's Alternative A (no mitigation) scenario that calculates the number of Level A exposures for all projected seismic acoustic source surveys from 2012- 2020 (BOEM PEIS 2014; p. E-86). CGG's proposed 28,670 line-km survey area comprises 14% of BOEM's projected 28,670 line-km area of effort for all seismic acoustic source surveys in 2015. This is the year proposed in our G&G permit application (E14-005) that was incorporated into BOEM's analysis (BOEM PEIS 2014; p. E-57). CGG's total coverage was multiplied by the predicted Level A take value for all surveys to predict the number of individual Level A exposures (based on no mitigation) for our proposed survey area. It should be noted that the modeling conducted by BOEM is purposely developed to be conservative and should not be considered as expected levels of actual take.
Table 4 No mitigation scenario: estimated number of individual Level A exposures using Southall et al. (2007) criteria. Southall's acoustic criteria is based on total received sound energy, or sound exposure level (SEL), and is considered a better metric for the prediction of injury onset than rms (BOEM PEIS 2014; p. H-12). Level A exposures are not expected to occur with applied mitigation measures.

	BOEM's Level A exposure estimates for all seismic acoustic source surveys in 2016 ²	Level A exposures estimates based on CGG's line-km area			
Family Balaenidae (right whales)					
North Atlantic right whale ²	0	0			
Family Balaenopteridae (roquals)					
Blue whale	2	0			
Bryde's whale	1	0			
Fin whale	0	0			
Minke whale	0	0			
Humpback whale	6	1			
Sei whale	0	0			
Suborder Odontoceti (toothed	l whales)				
Family Ziphiidae (beaked wh	Family Ziphiidae (beaked whales)				
Blainville's beaked whale	3	0			
Cuvier's beaked whale	20	3			
Gervais' beaked whale	3	0			
Northern bottlenose whale	0	0			
Sowerby's beaked whale	0	0			
True's beaked whale	2	0			
Family Physeteridae (sperm v	vhales)				
Sperm whale	0	0			
Family Delphinidae (dolphins					
Atlantic spotted dolphin	1,504	211			
Atlantic white-sided dolphin	3	0			
Bottlenose dolphin	31	4			
Clymene dolphin	126	18			
Dwarf sperm whale	6	1			
False killer whale	0	0			
Fraser's dolphin	0	0			
Killer whale	0	0			
Long-finned pilot whale	118	16			
Melon-headed whale	0	0			
Pantropical spotted dolphin	264	37			
Pygmy killer whale	0	0			

Pygmy sperm whale	0	0	
Risso's dolphin	734	103	
Rough-toothed dolphin	0	0	
Short-beaked common dolphin	231	32	
Short-finned pilot whale	23	3	
Spinner dolphin	1	0	
Striped dolphin	1,021	143	
Family Phocoenidae (porpoise)			
Harbor porpoise	4	1	

1 Species in italics are ESA-listed.

2 Projected seismic acoustic source surveys in Mid and South Atlantic in 2016 (BOEM PEIS 2014; Table Attachment E-4)

6.1 Habitat-based density models

At the time of this analysis, the best available habitat-based density models for understanding the spatial and temporal distribution of marine mammals in CGG's 2D Seismic Program area was determined to be the Roberts et al. (2015a) preliminary model predictions. The models were developed by the Duke University Marine Geospatial Ecology Laboratory (MGEL) in partnership with the NOAA Cetacean & Sound Mapping (CETSound) project, National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), and the US Navy. The models will be used for NOAA's Cetacean Density and Distribution Mapping (CetMap). The Duke MGEL marine mammal density database for the US and Canada Northwest Atlantic 200 nm EEZ was built on 23 years of shipboard and aerial line transect survey data provided by five institutions. A summary of the survey programs and surveyors in the database is shown in Table 4. It should be noted that additional surveys may have been added or information from existing survey data may have been updated since we conducted our analysis.

Survey Program	Duration	Coverage Area (km)	Effort Hours	# of Surveys
NEFSC ¹ Aerial Surveys	1995 - 2008	70,000	412	8
NEFSC NARWSS ² Harbor Porpoise Survey	1999 - 1999	6,000	36	1
NEFSC NARWSS	1999 - 2013	438,000	2,330	24
NEFSC Shipboard Surveys	1995 - 2004	16,000	1,143	6
NJDEP ³ Aerial Surveys	2008 - 2009	11,000	60	2
NJDEP Shipboard Surveys	2008 - 2009	14,000	836	2
SEFSC ⁴ Atlantic Shipboard Surveys	1992-2005	29,000	1,731	6
SEFSC Mid Atlantic Tursiops Aerial Surveys	1995 - 2005	35,000	196	7
SEFSC Southeast Cetacean Aerial Surveys	1992 -1995	8,000	42	2
UNCW ⁵ Cape Hatteras Aerial Surveys (Navy)	2011 - 2013	38,000	250	4
UNCW Early Marine Mammal Aerial Surveys	2002 - 2002	18,000	98	1
UNCW Jacksonville Aerial Surveys (Navy)	2009 - 2013	132,000	805	10
UNCW Onslow Bay Aerial Surveys (Navy)	2007 - 2011	98,000	563	6
UNCW Right Whale Aerial Surveys	2005 - 2008	114,000	586	3
Virginia Aquarium Aerial Surveys	2012 - 2014	19,000	106	1
Total		1,046,000	9,194	83

 Table 5 Line transect surveys used for the Duke MGEL cetacean habitat-based density models in the Northwest Atlantic models (Roberts et al. 2015b).

¹Northeast Fisheries Science Centers

² North Atlantic Right Whale Sighting Survey

³ New Jersey Department of Environment

⁴ Southeast Fisheries Science Centers

⁵ University of North Carolina – Wilmington

The track lines for all sighting survey programs and the associated sightings records for the Atlantic spotted dolphin are shown in Figure 4 as an example of the combined survey effort and species data used in the Duke MGEL analysis.



Figure 4 Atlantic spotted dolphin sightings recorded during surveys from 1992 – 2014 (Roberts et al. 2015b). The study area encompasses the US and Canadian 200 nm EEZ territory.

The habitat-based density prediction models provide the best possible estimates of density and highest possible spatial and temporal resolutions for 28 marine mammal taxa in the Northwest Atlantic. The methodology accounts for:

- species detection capability differences between aerial and shipboard surveys including comparison of survey-specific protocols
- species that were not seen and could result in an underestimated abundance (Thomas et al. 2013) (i.e., deep-divers, inconspicuous species)
- spatiotemporal distribution of species (i.e., individual or species migration patterns)
- the number of sightings made for each species

The density surface modeling (DSM) (Miller et al. 2013; Hedley & Buckland 2004; Thomas et al. 2010) approach was used for 15 of the 28 modeled taxa to predict individual density (per km²) at different points in space and time (Becker et al 2014) (See Table 5). Using generalized additive models (GAM) (e.g., Wood 2006), distance sampling methods were applied to line transect survey data and coupled with environmental covariates (depending on data availability) to produce the habitat-based density models. The models generated for each taxon are either annual or monthly resolution models. All of the following criteria must be met for a taxon to be predicted at a monthly time-step: (1) conclusive literature of varying seasonal distribution; (2) sufficient amount of sighting data over space and time (based on Buckland et al. 2001); and (3) species data used in the analysis is consistent with available literature. Monthly models were produced for 11 species. An annual map based on one season was produced for the four marine mammal taxa that did not meet all three criteria mentioned above. The annual predicted habitat-distribution of the Atlantic spotted dolphin in the Northwest Atlantic EEZ is shown in Figure 5 as an example.



Figure 5 Predicted annual distribution of the Atlantic spotted dolphin using DSM modeling (Roberts et al. 2015b)

The remaining 13 of the 28 modeled taxa were recorded too infrequently (species with less than 20 sightings) to apply environmental covariates and were therefore fitted with a single stratified model (see Table 5). This means density was homogenously distributed across the study area based on the known species ecology. The taxa that were either known or thought to occur in all parts of the study area were fitted to a regional model. The taxa known to occupy only certain regions in the study area were fitted to a sub-regional model. An example is provided in Figure 6 which shows the predicted sub-regional density distribution model for the northern bottlenose whale (Roberts et al. 2015c). See Table 5 for the species that fit either the regional or sub-regional category.



Figure 7 Stratified sub-regional northern bottlenose whale predicted distribution model (Roberts et al. 2015c).

Model type	Model specifics	Species and species groups
Density Monthly Surface Modeling		Atlantic white-sided dolphin; bottlenose dolphin; fin whale; North Atlantic right whale; minke whale; harbor porpoise; humpback whale; Risso's dolphin; sei whale; short-beaked common dolphin; sperm whale
(DSM)	Annual	beaked whales (<i>Ziphiidae</i> and <i>Mesoplodon</i>); Atlantic spotted dolphin; pilot whales (<i>Globicephala sp.</i>); striped dolphin
	Regional	blue whale; false killer whale; killer whale
Stratified modeling	Sub-regional	Bryde's whale; Clymene dolphin; Fraser's dolphin; melon-headed whale; northern bottlenose whale; <i>Kogia sp.</i> ; pantropical spotted dolphin; rough-toothed dolphin; spinner dolphin; white-beaked dolphin

 Table 6 Summary of model types used to produce Roberts et al. (2015a) marine mammal habitat-density maps. Monthly and sub-regional habitat-density model types were modeled for species that have known seasonal variation. Annual and regional model types were modeled for animals that are not known to exhibit seasonal movements.

It should be noted that there are temporal and spatial limitations to Roberts et al. (2015a) models (Rickard 2015). For example, there was less survey coverage during the fall season and seaward of the continental shelf break than in other seasons and areas. In some instances, this resulted in the application of correction and probability factors that could yield unrealistic abundance and distribution models.

6.2 Marine Mammal Harassment Estimate Methodology

This analysis aims at predicting the number of individuals of each species that could be exposed to potentially disturbing sound levels generated by the 5,400 in3 seismic acoustic source. ArcGIS was used to produce the initial exposure estimate output for analyzing geospatial information. The report output was the predicted density of a species or species group per 100 square kilometers (km²) (10 km x 10 km) of ensonified area.

- A 6,751 m (22,149 ft) radius, representing the extent of the 160 dB rms ensonification zone, was drawn around each sail line. The methodology for estimating the size of the 160 dB rms ensonification radius is described in Section 1.3.2.2. The total ensonified area for 28,670 line-km of sail line was determined to be 265,406 km².
- Preliminary marine mammal habitat-based density models for the Northwest Atlantic (Roberts et al. 2015a) developed by the Duke MGEL were uploaded into ArcGIS for each species or species group (taxon). Section 6.1 describes the cetacean habitat-based density models in detail. Each model comprises 100 km² (10 km x 10 km) grid cells and contains a geometric value representing the predicted abundance for a specific taxon.

- The "cetacean density grid cells" were converted into a compatible format and then spatially and geographically referenced over the ensonified sail lines. The ensonified sail lines were populated with the cetacean density grids by calculating the difference between the pre- and post-extracted area.
- The Roberts et al. (2015a) models do not include cetacean density data for waters beyond the Northwest Atlantic 200 nm EEZ territory. An interpolation analysis was carried out to estimate the 28,922 km² of survey area (~11%) outside of the 200 nm EEZ where no density values existed.
- The interpolation analysis projected a cetacean density grid for each taxon across the 28,922 km² of ensonified area outside of the 200 nm EEZ boundary. The estimated density grid values inside and outside of the 200 nm EEZ boundary were combined and averaged over a six month period to reflect the survey duration.
- A separate literature review was conducted for each species to compare the results with other research³. In a few instances, the estimated exposure number was deemed unrealistic and a different number of takes was requested (See Section 6.5). When the literature review was completed, the number of requested authorization of individual takes by Level B harassment was finalized.
- The finalized exposure estimates were multiplied by the best available population data to predict the population impact for each species or species group.

6.3 Marine Mammal Harassment Estimate Results

Table 7 presents a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal exposures to 160 dB rms during CGG's 2D Atlantic Seismic Program and the predicted population impact. These estimates will need to be compared to actual sighting data acquired during CGG's 2D Seismic Program in order to understand realistic numbers.

³ In addition to data comparison, the purpose of the literature review was to identify what areas, if any, in CGG's program area may be of biological importance for the species vitality (e.g., reproductive, migration, feeding).

Table 7 The estimated number of individual exposures of marine mammals to received seismic impulse sound levels ≥160 dB rms re 1 µPa (Level B harassment) during CGG's proposed 2D Atlantic Seismic Program.

Species	Estimated individual exposures	Requested Level B Take authorization	Estimated abundance ¹	Estimated population impact (%)
Suborder Mysticeti				
Family Balaenidae (right what	es)			
North Atlantic right whale ²	1	2	476 ³	0.4%
Family Balaenopteridae (roqua	als)			
Blue whale	2	2	DD ⁴	0.2%
Bryde's whale	3	3	DD	DD
Fin whale	50	50	4,633	1.1%
Minke whale	134	134	20,741	0.6%
Humpback whale	7	7	921	0.8%
Sei whale	14	14	370	3.8%
Suborder Odontoceti (toothed	whales)		• •	•
Family Ziphiidae (beaked what	les)			
Beaked whale	3,722	3,722	14,491	25.7%
Northern bottlenose whale	8	0	DD	DD
Family Physeteridae (sperm w	hales)			
Sperm whale	1,406	1,406	5,747	24.5%
Family Delphinidae (dolphins)				•
Atlantic spotted dolphin	6,880	6,880	55,436	12.4%
Atlantic white-sided dolphin	441	441	48,819	0.9%
Bottlenose dolphin	9,276	9,276	97,476	9.5%
Clymene dolphin	6,609	6,609	DD	DD
False killer whale	20	20	DD	DD
Fraser's dolphin	268	268	DD	DD
Killer whale	2	6	DD	DD
Kogia whale	249	249	3,785	6.6%
Melon-headed whale	620	100	DD	DD
Pantropical spotted dolphin	1,623	1,623	4,436	36.6%
Pilot whales	2,043	2,043	27,150	7.5%
Risso's dolphin	831	831	7,732	10.7%
Rough-toothed dolphin	183	183	532	34.4%
Short-beaked common dolphin	6,220	6,220	86,098	7.2%
Spinner dolphin	108	108	DD	DD
Striped dolphin	6,722	6,722	75,657	8.9%
White-beaked dolphin	0	0	2,003	0.0%
Family Phocoenidae (porpoise))			
Harbor porpoise	32	32	79,883	0.0%

CGG | Atlantic 2D Seismic Program 46

1 Estimated species population in the US and Canada EEZ territory (Roberts et al. 2015a) unless otherwise cited.

2 Italics identify species listed as 'Endangered' under the ESA.

3 DD = Data Deficient

6.4 Abundance estimates

The species population estimates used to predict population impact in Table 7 was based on the best available science that is most applicable to the proposed survey area. Duke MGEL abundance estimates are preferred in order to maintain consistency with the statistical methodology used to predict species habitat-density models. For some species NOAA SAR reports were more appropriate. This section compares Duke MGEL and NOAA SAR species abundance estimates and provides justification for the data source that was used to predict population impact. It should be noted that Duke MGEL did not incorporate Canadian Trans North Atlantic Sightings Survey data (TNASS) or AMAPPS data into their analysis and some taxon abundance estimates are likely underestimated (Roberts et al. 2015).

- North Atlantic Right Whale. Duke MGEL predicted a 12 month mean abundance based on a seasonal analysis: 535 (coefficient of variation (CV) 0.45) winter abundance; 416 (CV 0.12) spring abundance; 369 (CV 0.07) summer abundance; and 334 (CV 0.25) fall abundance (Roberts et al. 2015r). Climatological models were used to predict NARW density and distribution for all seasons with the exception of winter. Winter density models were predicted using contemporaneous models. NOAA SAR 2015 reported a minimum western North Atlantic population estimate of 476 in 2011 (Waring et al. 2015b). The estimate is based on a direct count using photo-identification techniques and has no associated CV. NOAA's minimum population estimate was selected to predict NARW population impact because it is a direct census count. The estimate is comparable with Duke MGEL's mean summer to winter abundance of 428 which reflects the timing of our proposed 2D seismic survey (July to December).
- **Blue whales.** Duke MGEL used a stratified model (a uniform density distribution across the study area) based on 4 sightings north of 40^o N because there was insufficient data to prepare habitat-based density models (Roberts et al. 2015g). The NOAA SAR 2010 concluded that there was not enough information to predict abundance for the western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2010). Based on extensive research, we do not feel there is enough available data to predict a population impact for blue whales in the US East Coast Atlantic.
- **Bryde's whale**. Duke MGEL predicted an abundance of 7 (CV 0.58) based on four ambiguous "Bryde's or sei whale" sightings that were distributed uniformly across the study area in the month of January (Roberts et al. 2015i). There is no NOAA SAR for Bryde's whales in the western North Atlantic. Based on extensive research, we do not feel there is enough available data to predict a population impact for Bryde's whales in the US East Coast Atlantic.
- Fin whale. Duke MGEL predicted a mean abundance of 4,633 (CV 0.08) based on a climatological model (Roberts et al. 2015e). The NOAA SAR 2014 reported a predicted abundance of 1,618 (CV 0.33) for the Western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b). Duke MGEL's mean abundance was selected because the dataset encompassed a broader range and more sighting records that were relevant to the proposed 2D program area.
- Minke whale. Duke MGEL predicted a mean seasonal population model of 740 (CV 0.23) in the winter and 2,112 (CV 0.05) in the summer. These stratified models showed transitions at October/November and March/April based on the reduced presence of minke whales in the Gulf of

Maine in November-March, and the sighting of minke whales from December to March between Cape Hatteras and Florida (Roberts et al. 2015q). The NOAA SAR 2014 (Waring et al. 2015b) predicted a best population abundance of 20,741 (CV 0.30) for the Canadian East Coast stock. The estimate was derived from Canadian TNASS in 2007 (Lawson and Gosselin 2009) and is considered the best available data because the survey covered more of the minke whale range than other surveys. Duke MGEL models for minke whales encompass more southern data than NOAA SAR but didn't include Canadian TNASS 2007 survey, which Duke MGEL acknowledged would improve the dataset.

- Humpback whale. Duke MGEL predicted a mean population of 921 based on a contemporaneous model (Roberts et al. 2015bb). The NOAA SAR 2014 (Waring et al. 2015b) predicted a minimum abundance of 823 (no CV) for the Gulf of Maine stock. Duke MGEL data was selected as most applicable source for predicting population impact because the analysis incorporated a broader area of effort and sighting data relevant to CGG's proposed survey area.
- Sei whale. Duke MGEL predicted mean abundance based on seasonal distribution: 98 (CV 0.25) in the winter; 627 (CV 0.14) in the spring; 717 (CV 0.30) in the summer; and 37 (CV 0.19) in the fall (Roberts et al. 2015w). Climatological models were used to predict density and distribution for all seasons with the exception of spring which were fitted to contemporaneous models. The NOAA SAR 2015 (Waring et al. 2015b) predicted 357 (CV 0.52) as the best available abundance for the Nova Scotia stock. The estimate was generated from a shipboard and aerial survey conducted during June–August 2011 (Palka 2012) and is considered to be conservative due to insufficient survey coverage of the Nova Scotia stocks range. Duke MGEL's highest seasonal abundance estimate was selected to determine population impact data because the analysis utilized data that is more relevant to our proposed survey area.
- **Beaked whales.** Duke MGEL selected a contemporaneous model as the best predictor of mean annual abundance: 14,491 (CV 0.17) (Roberts et al. 2015f). This estimate is similar to the NOAA SAR 2013 estimated abundance of 13,624 (includes *Ziphius* and *Mesoplodon spp.*) based on June-August 2011 Central Florida to lower Bay of Fundy sighting surveys (Waring et al. 2014). Duke MGEL's predicted abundance was selected because the analysis accounts for species that are not seen at the water surface (e.g., diving). It should be noted that sighting surveys beyond the continental shelf break (i.e., AMAPPS surveys) are lacking and the actual population size may be underestimated.
- Northern bottlenose whale. Duke MGEL models predicted a northern bottlenose whale population estimate of 90 (CV 0.63) based on four sightings occurring north of 38⁰ N (Roberts et al. 2015c). The models assumed the species is absent in the US East Coast EEZ along the continental shelf and south of the Gulf Stream. There is no NOAA SAR population estimate due to insufficient information (Waring et al. 2015). Following extensive research, we do not feel there is enough data to predict a population estimate for the US East Coast Mid- and South Atlantic region.
- **Sperm whale.** Duke MGEL selected a contemporaneous model as the best predictor of abundance: 5,747 (CV 0.12) (Roberts et al. 2015y). The report recommends off-shelf regions should be approached with caution as the estimates don't incorporate complex social dynamics that influence population shifts, particularly in summer. NOAA SAR 2014 reported a best abundance estimate of 2,288 (CV 0.28) based on combined sightings from surveys conducted from Florida to Maine in

2011 (Waring et al. 2015a). The reported abundance is likely underestimated because the surveys did not account for whales under the surface. Duke MGEL's abundance prediction was selected because it included more data in our proposed survey area than NOAA (reported sightings were primarily north of 35^0 N). It should be noted that both Duke MGEL and NOAA consider the population estimate unknown in deeper waters.

- Atlantic spotted dolphin. Duke MGEL estimated a mean annual abundance of 55,436 (CV 0.32) based on a climatological model (Roberts et al. 2015b). The NOAA SAR 2013 (Waring et al. 2015c) best available abundance estimate for the western North Atlantic stock is 44,715 (CV 0.43). The Duke MGEL abundance prediction was selected to maintain consistency with the data used in the take estimate analysis.
- Atlantic white-sided dolphin. Duke MGEL predicted a mean population of 37,180 (CV 0.07) based on a contemporaneous model (Roberts et al. 2015bb). NOAA SAR 2014 best available abundance estimate for the western North Atlantic stock was based on combined efforts of a 2011 shipboard and aerial sighting survey: 48,819 (CV 0.61) (Waring et al. 2015b). Duke MGEL's prediction model does not incorporate Canadian TNASS survey data (Lawson and Gosselin 2009) and is likely underestimated as the white-sided dolphin is predominate at latitudes north of 40° N. Therefore, the NOAA SAR abundance estimate is considered the best available data.
- **Bottlenose dolphin.** Duke MGEL predicted a mean abundance of 97,476 (0.06) based on a climatological model (Roberts et al. 2015h). This model estimated an aggregate density of multiple stocks. The NOAA SAR 2014 (Waring et al. 2015a) best available abundance estimate is 77,532 (CV .40). The Duke MGEL abundance estimate is considered the best available data because the dataset includes more sightings than the NOAA SAR 2014 report in our proposed survey area.
- **Clymene dolphin**. Duke MGEL selected a stratified model to predict a mean annual abundance of 12,524 (CV 0.56) based on only 11 sightings (Roberts et al. 2015a). NOAA SAR 2013 concluded that present data were insufficient to calculate a minimum population estimate for the western North Atlantic stock. Based on extensive research, we do not feel there is sufficient available data to predict a population impact for Clymene dolphins in the US East Coast Atlantic.
- False killer whale. Duke MGEL predicted a mean annual abundance of 94 (CV 0.84) based on two sightings in the US and Canadian 200 nm EEZ territory (Roberts et al. 2015k). A stratified model for the entire study area was generated because there was not enough data to model abundance from environmental predictors. The NOAA SAR 2014 was the first report generated for the western North Atlantic stock of false killer whales. The report predicted an abundance estimate of 442 (CV 1.06) from summer 2011 surveys covering waters from central Florida to the lower Bay of Fundy (Waring et al. 2015a). Duke MGEL's did not utilize other available data such as The Ocean Biogeographic Information System Spatial Ecological Analysis of Megavertebrate Populations (OBIS-SEAMAP) database, a 1995 NOAA shipboard abundance survey, or AMAPPS. This data would certainly have improved the degree of uncertainty in the analysis. NOAA's abundance estimate was selected to predict population impact because it incorporated more sightings and is considered precautionary.
- Fraser's dolphin. Duke MGEL predicted a mean annual abundance of 492 (CV 0.76) based on two sightings between 35[°] N and 37[°] N (Roberts et al. 20151). A stratified model was fitted to off-shelf waters (water depth > 125 m (410 ft)) because not enough data was available to produce habitat-based density models using environmental predictors. There is currently no species

abundance estimate for the western North Atlantic stock of Fraser's dolphins due to insufficient data (Waring et al. 2007). After a thorough analysis of available research, we feel there is not enough available abundance data to predict a realistic population impact.

- **Killer whale.** Duke MGEL predicted a mean abundance of 11 (CV 0.82) based on four sightings north of 40[°] N (Roberts et al. 2015d). NOAA SAR 2014 concluded there is not enough available data to estimate abundance for the western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015a). Lawson and Stevens (2014) used photographic identification to predict a minimum population estimate of 67 killer whales from 40[°] N to 60[°] N and 40[°] W to 75[°] W. This number is considered an underestimate of the true population (Roberts et al. 2015d). Based on extensive research, we feel there is too much uncertainty to predict a realistic population impact for killer whales in the US East Coast Atlantic.
- *Kogia spp.* Duke MGEL selected a stratified density model to predict a mean off-shelf annual abundance of 678 (CV 0.23) (Roberts et al. 2015o) for dwarf sperm whale (*Kogia sima*) and the pygmy sperm whale (*Kogia breviceps*). There was not enough data to apply the environmental predictors needed to generate habitat-based density models. NOAA SAR 2013 used summer 2011 sighting surveys covering waters from central Florida to the lower Bay of Fundy to determine the best abundance estimates for *Kogia spp.*: 3,785 (CV 0.47) (Waring et al. 2014). NOAA's abundance estimate was selected because Duke MGEL appears to underestimate present-day Kogia abundance and does not provide any information on the spatial distribution of Kogia beyond NOAA's dataset.
- Melon-headed whale. Duke MGEL models predicted a mean annual abundance of 1,175 (CV 0.50) based on only four sightings of melon-headed whales (Roberts et al. 2015p). NOAA SAR concluded there is not enough available data to establish a population abundance estimate in the US East Coast Atlantic (Waring et al. 2014). Based on extensive research, we do not feel there is sufficient available data to predict population impact of melon-headed whales.
- **Pantropical spotted dolphin.** Duke MGEL applied a stratified model to estimate an abundance of 4,436 (CV 0.33) (Roberts et al. 2015s). A habitat-based density model was not possible because the analysis was based on only 17 sightings. NOAA SAR 2007 determined the best estimate of abundance for the western North Atlantic stock is 4,439 (CV 0.49) (Waring et al. 2007). Duke MGEL was selected as the best available data.
- **Pilot whales**. Duke MGEL fit a climatological model to 909 pilot whale sightings to predict a mean annual abundance of 18, 977 (CV 0.11) (Roberts et al. 2015t). NOAA SAR 2015 reported a best abundance estimate 5,635 (CV 0.63) for long-pilot whales and 21,515 (CV 0.37) for short-finned pilot whales (Waring et al. 2015b). Long-finned pilot whales are underestimated because the latest survey data does not incorporate the Scotian Shelf where the highest densities have been observed. NOAA's abundance estimate was selected because Duke MGEL did not incorporate Canadian TNASS data or AMAPPS 2010-2014 data.
- **Risso's dolphin.** Duke MGEL predicted mean Risso's abundance to be 7,732 (CV 0.9) based on a climatological model (Roberts et al. 2015u). NOAA SAR 2014 summed the NEFSC and SEFSC 2011 aerial and sighting surveys to determine a best abundance estimate of 18,250 (CV 0.46) (Waring et al. 2015a). We selected Duke MGEL as the best indicator of abundance because it shows seasonal shifts in population. It should be noted that the winter abundance and distribution in the US Atlantic EEZ may be underestimated due to a lack of winter off-shelf sighting survey effort (Roberts et al. 2015u).

- **Rough-toothed dolphin.** Duke MGEL selected a stratified density model to predict a mean annual abundance of 532 (CV 0.36) (Roberts et al. 2015v). There was insufficient data to apply the environmental covariates needed to generate habitat-based models. NOAA SAR 2013 reported an estimated abundance of 271 (1.00) for the western North Atlantic (Waring et al. 2014). The estimate is based on a 2011 shipboard survey covering waters from central Florida to the lower Bay of Fundy. Duke MGEL's abundance estimate was selected because all 11 sightings used in the analysis are located in the proposed survey area.
- Short-beaked common dolphin. Duke MGEL selected a contemporaneous model to predict a mean abundance of 86,098 (CV 0.12) (Roberts et al. 2015x). The prediction models included year-round density and distribution in the US and Canadian Atlantic EEZ due to the large amount of available data utilized in the analysis. NOAA SAR 2015 utilized TNAAS surveys to estimate and abundance of 173,486 (0.55) for the western North Atlantic stock (Waring et al. 2015b). Duke's prediction was selected to predict population impact because the model incorporates a larger area of effort than the SAR and contains more sightings relevant to our survey area.
- **Spinner dolphin.** Duke MGEL predicted an off-shelf abundance of 262 (CV 0.93) based on two sightings between 36⁰ N and 40⁰ N (Roberts et al. 2015z). Due to the rarity of sightings a habitat-based density model was not possible and a stratified model was used to show species abundance and distribution. NOAA SAR 2014 concluded there is not enough available data to establish a population abundance estimate in the US East Coast Atlantic (Waring et al. 2015a). Following a thorough assessment of available research, we do not feel confident that enough data exists to predict spinner dolphin abundance capable of estimating a realistic population impact.
- Striped dolphin. Duke MGEL selected the contemporaneous model as the best predictor of mean annual abundance: 75,657 (CV 0.21) (Roberts et al. 2015aa). NOAA SAR 2013 reported the best abundance estimate for the western North Atlantic stock of striped dolphins based on the sum of the 2011 NEFSC and SEFSC survey estimates: 54,807 (CV 0.3) (Waring et al. 2014). Duke MGEL abundance estimate was used to predict population impact because the analysis covers a broader range that is more relevant to our proposed survey area.
- White-beaked dolphin. Duke MGEL applied a stratified model to predict a mean abundance of 39 (CV 0.42) based on 12 sightings occurring north of 41^o N (Roberts et al. 2015bb). The density and abundance estimate averaged all data available in the northeast U.S. during the 1995-2013 periods, and included effort extending south to Cape Hatteras based on a historical sighting. NOAA SAR 2007 predicted the best population estimate of 2,003 (CV 0.94) based on a single survey that occurred northward of South Gulf of Maine (Waring et al. 2007). The estimate is considered precautionary as it accounts for potential abundance that could occur in particular years. Duke's MGEL was selected as the best available and most relevant to our survey because it covers a broader range of sighting data to predict long-term average density and abundance.
- Harbor porpoise. Duke MGEL used seasonal models based on Palka et al. (1996) and on observed sighting patterns to predict a mean abundance of 17,651 (CV 0.17) in winter and 45,089 (CV 0.12) in the summer (Roberts et al. 2015m). All sightings occurred north the proposed survey area. The NOAA SAR 2014 reported a best abundance estimate of 79,883 (CV=0.32) for the Gulf of Maine/Bay of Fundy stock based on a 2011 line-transect survey (Waring et al. 2015a). The NOAA SAR estimate was selected as a precautionary measure because Duke MGEL warns of possible underestimated abundance due to uncertainty in known species distribution (Roberts et al. 2015m).

6.5 Interpretation of Results

This section addresses the individual exposure estimates, as well as uncertainties and assumptions that resulted in overly conservative estimates. Section 4 provides detailed distribution and general information based on a substantial literature review for each species throughout the year.

The marine mammal exposure analysis estimated that 47,474 individual marine mammals could be exposed to 160 dB rms sound levels within the seismic acoustic source acoustic field during the six month survey. The total estimate encompasses 32 species including 18 species of dolphin, 13 species of whale, and one porpoise species. The white-beaked dolphin is included in the table but is considered extralimital in the survey area (Waring et al. 2007; CETAP 1982) and will not be discussed further. It should be noted that seals are neither included in Table 4 nor described in Section 4 because (1) the exposure estimate analysis did not generate any exposure estimates for seals during the proposed seismic survey and (2) they are not likely to be seen as far offshore as the proposed seismic survey.

Based on a thorough analysis and extensive literature review, CGG is requesting NMFS authorization for take by Level B harassment of 46,951 incidents of exposure. Only four species have a requested take authorization number that differs from the species estimated exposure number. Based on the known data, the estimated exposures for these four species are believed to be either overestimated or underestimated.

- **Killer whale.** The analysis predicted that two killer whale incidents of exposure to received sounds levels that constitute Level B harassmentcould occur during the proposed six month survey. Roberts et al. (2015a) applied a uniform density across the study area based on four sightings (all north of 40^o N) from 23 years of line-transect survey data. Only one sighting was recently recorded off the coast of North Carolina during a spring 2014 AMAPPS survey. Despite the lack of sightings that have occurred in CGG's proposed survey area, we determined it reasonable to take the over-precautionary approach to use the largest of the average group size (based on 836 sighting events over 250 years) as predicted by Lawson & Stevens (2014) and request six killer whale take authorizations. The request is consistent with pertinent literature (Roberts et al. 2015d; AMAPPS 2014; NOAA OPR 2015g; CETAP 1982).
- North Atlantic right whale. The exposure analysis predicted only one individual NARW would be within the ensonified range of our seismic acoustic source during the proposed six month survey. We felt it more appropriate to request two takes based on the average NARW group size in the area (LaBrecque 2015; NOAA SAR 2015).
- Melon-headed whale. The analysis results predicted an average of 620 incidents of melon-headed whale exposures to received sound levels that constitute Level B harassment could occur. However, the database Roberts et al. (2015p) used to produce a predicted habitat-based density model for melon-headed whales only contained four sightings. Sightings of Risso's dolphins, striped dolphins, and bottlenose dolphins were used as proxy species to generate the number of sightings necessary to conduct a statistical analysis of distribution (Buckland et al. 2001). Despite numerous sighting surveys spanning over two decades, there are only five recorded melon-headed whale sightings in the North Atlantic (Waring et al. 2014; DoN 2013; Halpin et al. 2009; CETAP 1984). The lack of sightings is probably due to the small number of groups in the US East Coast Atlantic (Waring et al. 2007). Based on historical records, melon-headed whales are expected to be encountered rarely

in the survey area. We conclude that requesting the average group size of 100, based on the available evidence referenced in this paragraph, is a more realistic prediction of the number of exposed individuals.

• Northern bottlenose whale. The exposure analysis estimated that eight northern bottlenose whales could potentially be exposed to disturbing sound levels produced by the seismic acoustic source during the proposed survey. However, no sightings have ever been recorded in or near the proposed seismic survey area. The prediction model used four sightings that occurred north of 39^o N and extrapolated a uniform density value across the entire study area. Based on historical sightings (AMAPPS 2014; Wimmer & Whitehead 2004; CETAP 1981) the northern bottlenose whale is expected to occur only north of the survey area. Hence, we did not request any Level B harassment takes authorizations. This species is described in detail in Section 4.

6.6 Animals present outside of the US EEZ

Following the interpolation analysis, only nine species are predicted to be absent from the 28,922 km² of ensonified survey area which extends beyond the 200 nm EEZ. These species are the NARW, blue whale, Bryde's whale, fin whale, humpback whale, Atlantic white-sided dolphin, killer whale, harbor porpoise, and the short-beaked common dolphin. It is also likely that other species included in this analysis do not inhabit waters at these depths. However, the numbers are included as a precautionary measure. The most prevalent species abundance beyond the US EEZ territory is the Clymene dolphin at 735 individuals (11% of the total Clymene exposures). The *Mesoplodon spp. and Ziphius* beaked whales are predicted to have the highest abundance for whales at 283 predicted individual exposures (7% of the total beaked whale exposures). These examples are consistent with research that suggests these species prefer deep waters.

6.6.1 Analysis limitations and uncertainties

The predicted exposure estimate results in Table 6 are based on the best available information at the time of this analysis. However, the predicted exposure estimates are considered to be conservative based on the following analysis limitations and uncertainties:

- Species that move away from approaching vessels. The estimated marine mammal exposure numbers assume that the individual animals do not move away from the area as the seismic research vessel approaches. This assumption is not practical as several species are known to shy away from vessels (Palka & Hammond 2011; Berini 2009; Würsig et al. 1998).
- Mitigation measures were not factored into the analysis. The seismic acoustic source soft start was not factored into the analysis. The soft start is designed to alert marine life in the area of the pending operation by gradually increasing the pressure output of the seismic acoustic source over a period of at least 20 minutes. This standard operating procedure enables animals to move away from the approaching vessel, thereby reducing the likelihood of exposure to disturbing sound levels. In addition, the shut down and power down of the seismic acoustic source actioned by diligent PSO and PAM monitoring will also reduce the potential for exposure to sounds that could potentially constitute a take by Level A harassment.
- Statistical assumptions based on limited data. Roberts et al. (2015a) applied a uniform density value across the entire Northwest Atlantic to predict abundance for infrequently sighted species. We acknowledge that Duke MGEL performed an extensive literature review and statistical analysis

to generate the best possible results. However, applying uniform density values across an area as large as the US and Canada EEZ is likely going to result in overestimated density predictions for rarely sighted species. The Roberts et al. (2015) models should incorporate the significant amount of species data acquired during the 2010 to 2014 AMAPPS sighting surveys to reduce habitat uncertainty.

The exposure estimates, despite being based on best available knowledge, should be compared with the actual species that are encountered in the 6,175 m (22,149 ft) ensonification radius surrounding the seismic acoustic source during CGG's proposed seismic survey.

6.6.2 Dolphins

The Delphinidae family accounts for 89% of all requested takes by Level B harassment. In total, 42,127 individuals that comprise 18 dolphin species are predicted to be within range of the seismic acoustic source for which received sound levels are 160 dB rms. Dolphin population abundance is distributed throughout the proposed survey area but most heavily concentrated along the continental shelf slope and break of South Carolina and Virginia. Seasonal abundance is highest mid-winter through early summer and lowest late autumn to early winter. There are no ESA-listed species in the Delphinidae family that occur along the US East Coast Atlantic.

The common bottlenose dolphin is anticipated to have the highest densities within the 265,406 km² ensonified area of the survey and accounts for 20% of all estimated exposures. In our proposed survey area, common dolphins are predominant along the continental shelf edge and slope throughout the year.

6.6.3 Whales

Take authorizations by Level B harassment were requested for 13 species of whales. Six of the 13 whales are ESA-listed species: blue whale, fin whale, humpback whale, North Atlantic right whale, sei whale, and sperm whale. ESA-listed species comprise three percent of all requested Level B harassment takes for whales.

Beaked whales are predicted to have the highest number of exposed individuals at 3,722 and account for eight percent of all whale take requests. Roberts et al. (2015a) group all sub-species (Gervais', Sowerby's, Cuvier's, Blainville's, True's) of beaked whale in one prediction model due to the difficulty in distinguishing between species at sea. This could explain such a high number. Beaked whales are known to occur off the continental shelf and in deep water year-round (Waring et al. 2015b).

Although whale migration patterns are largely unknown, abundance is anticipated to be most prevalent in the survey area along the continental shelf and edge from fall through early summer.

6.6.4 Porpoise

The harbor porpoise is the only member of the Phocoena family that occurs in the US East Coast Atlantic waters. The exposure analysis estimates a total of 32 individuals, or less than one percent of the population, could occur in the 6,751 m (22,149 ft) ensonification radius of the active seismic acoustic source during

CGG's seismic survey. Porpoises are most likely to be present in the proposed survey area along the continental shelf and shelf edge during the winter and spring months.

7.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT OF THE ACTIVITY

Any sound source that overlaps the same auditory bandwidth of an animal has the potential to elicit behavioral or, less frequently, physiological response. The type of response varies among individuals and the specific activity that an animal is engaged in at the time (Simmonds et al. 2003; NRC 2005; Southall et al. 2007; Ellison et al. 2011). Potential effects of anthropogenic noise on marine mammals could range from subtle responses (i.e., changes in swim speed) to more significant responses (i.e., shifts in migration paths, hearing threshold shifts, stress) which are unique to a marine mammal's biological function (Weilgart 2007; BOEM PEIS 2014, A-95).

The sound generated by the active seismic acoustic source has the potential to result in some behavioral changes of a small number of marine mammals or stocks. There will be continuous monitoring to detect and observe marine mammals near the mitigation zone. The seismic acoustic source will either be shut down, reduced in power, or delayed from activation, as appropriate, if there is indication that a marine mammal could experience detrimental effects resulting from the received sound level. Any behavioral disturbances are expected to be localized and short-term. It is unlikely that the proposed seismic program would result in any events of significant non-auditory effects or hearing impairment. There is no documented scientific evidence to date which indicates that the energy released from a seismic acoustic source has had lethal implications for marine mammals.

7.1 Physiological Responses

7.1.1 Non-auditory effects

Research suggests that under specific conditions a marine mammal exposed to peak pressure levels of pulsed sound could experience stress responses, neurological effects, bubble formation, and organ or tissue damage (Miksis et al. 2001; Goertner 1982; Young 1991). An electrophysiology study carried out on a captive beluga whale and a bottlenose dolphin recorded an increase in cortisol and other stress hormones in the blood when exposed to an impulsive seismic acoustic source (Romano et al. 2004). The study concludes that elevated stress hormone levels returned to baseline levels within 24 hours, concluding that the effects were short-term. Aside from stress reactions, some researchers theorize that a marine mammal reacting to an active seismic acoustic source by rapidly diving or surfacing could experience physiological consequences. Ridgway and Howard (1979) suggest that variations in marine mammal diving behavior or avoidance responses to noise could result in supersaturation of nitrogen in tissues and blood vessels and lead to deleterious bubble formation. There is no conclusive evidence that exposure to the seismic acoustic source has resulted in the accumulation of nitrogen bubbles in tissues. Limitations in carrying out direct empirical studies mean that most data related to physiological impacts from the seismic acoustic source is speculative or based on post-mortem investigation. There is no documented scientific evidence to date which indicates the energy released from a seismic acoustic source has had physiological or injurious implications on marine mammals. It is unlikely that a cetacean will experience any physiological effects

during the proposed seismic survey because (1) exposure to the proposed activity will be brief in any given area; (2) the sound intensity decays rapidly as it propagates from the seismic acoustic source; and (3) a comprehensive mitigation and monitoring plan will be in place throughout the proposed seismic survey.

7.1.2 Auditory Effects

Because of the complexity of carrying out in vivo research, fewer than 25% of the known marine mammal species have undergone behavioral and/or physiological assessments to measure hearing capabilities (BOEM PEIS 2014, A-44). Thus, hearing frequency ranges have been determined through a combined research effort of vocalizations, anatomy, behavioral responses, and nominal ambient noise. Southall et al. (2007) categorize marine mammals into five functional hearing groups as is listed below in Table 5. The table includes the 32 species discussed in Section 4.

Functional hearing group	Estimated auditory bandwidth	Species likely to occur in the proposed survey area
Low-frequency cetacean	7 Hz to 22 kHz	blue whale; Bryde's whale; fin whale; humpback whale; North Atlantic right whale; minke whale; sei whale
Mid-frequency cetacean	150 Hz to 160 kHz	Atlantic spotted dolphin; Atlantic white-sided dolphin; beaked whales; bottlenose dolphin; Clymene dolphin; false killer whale; Fraser's dolphin; killer whale; long-finned pilot whale; melon-headed whale; pantropical spotted dolphin; pygmy killer whale; Risso's dolphin; rough- toothed dolphin; short-finned pilot whale; short- beaked common dolphin; spinner dolphin; sperm whale; striped dolphin
High- frequency cetacean	200 Hz to 180 kHz	harbor porpoise; dwarf sperm whale; pygmy sperm whale

 Table 8 Functional hearing groups and estimated functional hearing ranges of species known to occur in the proposed survey area. Southall et al. (2007) designated marine mammal "functional hearing groups" and estimated the associated lower and upper frequencies.

7.1.2.1 Hearing threshold shifts

Studies conducted by Southall et al. (2007) and Finneran et al. (2005) suggest that under certain conditions marine mammals exposed to specific sound levels could experience temporary or permanent shifts in hearing thresholds. The type and magnitude of hearing threshold shifts are based on the duration, frequency, and intensity of a sound (Ketten 2012; Popov et al. 2013). Permanent Threshold Shift (PTS) is believed to occur after sustained or frequent exposure to a sound which results in irreversible hearing impairment. PTS can also result from exposure to a rapid onset of extreme peak sound pressure levels. There is no available data to date which quantifies the sound levels required to cause permanent damage. Temporary Threshold Shift (TTS) is a non-permanent elevation of the hearing threshold as a result of noise exposure and can last from minutes to days (Richardson et al. 1995). Although TTS is not considered an injury, it could impair a marine mammal's ability to hear cues about the environment while recovering.

There are currently no criteria (i.e., recovery time, severity of TTS) that define the point at which temporary hearing shifts would be considered as detrimental to a marine mammal's biological functions.

The NMFS recognizes the High Energy Seismic Survey team (HESS 1999) research as the regulatory criteria at which a cetacean could experience physical injury (PTS) if exposed to an impulsive seismic acoustic source (NMFS 2000). HESS concludes that a cetacean exposed to sound levels which meet or exceed 180 dB re 1 μ Pa rms could potentially incur "serious behavioral, physiological, and hearing effects." NMFS considers exposure to impulsive noise which meets or exceeds 160 dB re 1 μ Pa rms as the threshold criteria for behavioral harassment.

There is no definitive evidence that the sound produced by a seismic acoustic source under realistic field operating conditions has resulted in auditory damage of non-captive cetaceans. Based on the mitigation and monitoring plan for the proposed survey, it is unlikely that a cetacean will remain close enough to the seismic acoustic source to be exposed to sound levels resulting in temporary or permanent hearing shifts. The plan includes a seismic acoustic source soft start, mitigation zone, seismic survey buffer zone, and continuous visual and acoustic monitoring by trained independent third party contractors.

7.2 Behavioral Responses

Behavioral reactions to sound exposure are less predictable and depend on many factors including species, sex, age, reproductive state, and activity at the time of exposure (Ellison et al. 2011; Southall et. al 2007; Weilgart 2007). A cetacean's reaction to sound could have subtle effects, such as changes in diving frequency and breathing, but does not necessarily constitute a deleterious impact. According to NMFS (2001, p.9293), short-term subtle behavioral responses that are within the animal's normal hearing range do not have any biological significance and are not considered to require a small take authorization. A biologically significant response means, "in a manner that might have deleterious effects to the well-being of individual marine mammals or their populations," as defined by the National Resource Council (NRC 2005). Exposure to noise can also have more conspicuous effects which interfere with a cetacean's normal biological functions. A conspicuous effect would be a cetacean's displacement from or avoidance of an area as a result of noise disturbance during feeding or migration activities. Avoidance reactions are considered to be the most obvious indication of disturbance (Richardson 1995a).

7.3 Masking

Marine mammals rely on acoustic signals for vital biological functions including communication, feeding, reproduction, navigation, and receiving environmental information (Weilgart 2007; Dolman et al. 2009). The manner in which marine mammals utilize acoustics for specific behaviors varies according to species. Masking occurs when sounds in the environment are of a similar frequency and amplitude which equal or exceed the auditory signal an animal is trying to receive. Ambient noise from natural and anthropogenic sources can interfere with signal detections. The extent of interference is based on the spectral, temporal, and spatial overlap between the masking noise and the sender and receiver (Reichmuth 2012, p. 26). Masking could affect auditory threshold shifts, communication call frequency and length, navigation, and predator/prey detection ability (Parks et al. 2011; Southall et al. 2000).

The sound produced by an active seismic acoustic source has the potential to overlap with some baleen whale hearing thresholds. It should be noted that the number of individuals of baleen whale species that could be exposed to received levels of seismic impulse sounds levels ≥ 160 dB rms comprised less than one percent of the total predicted marine mammal exposures (see Section 6). Richardson et al. (2005b) and Madsen et al. (2006) conclude that masking can occur at great distances due to the multi-directional spreading and reverberation of a seismic pulse but at significantly reduced signal intensity. Therefore, the seismic acoustic source impulse will likely reduce a species' ability to detect calls and other ambient noises for a brief time while the acoustic energy travels through different mediums. Some cetaceans are known to modify their vocalization rate or pitch, and/or shift their peak thresholds in response to acoustic sounds (Blackwell et al. 2013; Cerchio et al. 2014; Castellote et al. 2012). Any masking effects caused by the active seismic acoustic source on marine mammal biological functions are expected to be minor because of the transient nature of the proposed survey. Masking will also be intermittent as the seismic acoustic source impulse occurs every 25 m (65.61 ft) and lasts for a period of one second.

8.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACTS ON SUBSISTENCE

Not applicable. The proposed activity will take place off of the U.S coastline in the Mid- and South-Atlantic between 30° and 40° N. No activity will take place in or near a traditional Arctic subsistence hunting area. Therefore, there are no relevant subsistence uses for marine mammals implicated by this action.

9.0 ANTICIPATED IMPACT ON HABITAT

CGG's proposed seismic survey is not expected to have a permanent impact on habitats used by marine mammals in the survey area. The active seismic acoustic source will likely cause temporary displacement of a small number of fish and invertebrates. Some non-lethal or mortal impacts on individual fish which are located in direct proximity to the active seismic acoustic source could also occur. There is no evidence to date that indicates a significant impact on fish or invertebrate populations as a result of seismic survey activity. The seismic research vessel will travel continuously along survey lines which are spaced 20 km (12 mi) apart and take up to 90 hours to complete. Thus, the vessel will have a minimal presence in any one location, briefly elevating noise levels. The western boundary of the survey area will be 84 km (50 mi) to 129 km (80 mi) from the coastline and outside of any ESA-defined critical habitat areas.

10.0 ANTICIPATED EFFECTS OF HABITAT IMPACTS ON MARINE MAMMALS

The proposed seismic survey is not expected to have any permanent habitat-related effects which would be deleterious for marine mammal individuals and populations. Major migration corridors, feeding, and breeding areas on the U.S East Coast Atlantic have been identified along coastal to continental shelf areas (LaBrecque et al. 2015). A small percentage of the survey area along the western boundary overlaps with migration corridors. The primary effect of the proposed activity on the habitat will be temporarily elevated

noise levels. As stated in Section 10, the seismic research vessel will be continuously moving and have a minimal presence in any one location. Seismic surveys conducted simultaneously will maintain a separation distance of at least 17.5 km (10.8 mi) and are not expected to result in excessive background noise above ambient levels. There is no evidence to date indicating a long-term displacement, mortality, or significant population impact to marine mammals as a result of seismic acoustic source activities.

11.0 MITIGATION MEASURES

The mitigation measures for CGG's proposed Atlantic 2D Seismic Program are designed to have an impact as low as reasonably possible on affected marine mammal species and stocks. Only the acoustic impacts associated with the specified activities, as described in Section 1, are considered in the mitigation plan. With effective mitigations in place, acoustic impacts on marine mammal species and their habitat is expected to be negligible and short-term.

11.1 Vessel Strike Avoidance

Deep diving species (e.g., sperm whales, beaked whales) require extended periods of time at the water surface to replenish oxygen levels and are therefore the most vulnerable to vessel strikes. A study concludes that North Atlantic right whales (NARW) are, at times, unresponsive to vessel sound which increases the likelihood of vessel collisions (Nowacek et al. 2004). The support vessel and escort vessel will adhere to the Joint BOEM-BSEE Notice to Lessees (NTL) 2012-G01 ("Vessel Strike Avoidance and Inured/Dead Protected Species Reporting") and NMFS Compliance Guide for the Right Whale Ship Strike Reduction Rule (50 CFR § 224.105) (see Figure 4) at all times during the survey. The seismic research vessel will adhere to the same measures while transiting to and from the survey area. These guidelines include collision avoidance measures, reporting for mariners, and speed restrictions in Seasonal Management Areas (SMA) and voluntary Dynamic Management Areas (DMA). While transiting through an SMA or DMA, all vessels will limit their speed to ten knots during restriction periods or avoid the areas altogether.



Figure 8 Speed restrictions and seasonal management areas for North Atlantic right whales. Guidance for vessel operator compliance with the Right Whale Strike Reduction Rule (USDOC NOAA 2014).

During the seismic operation, the seismic research vessel will adhere to a practical yet effective modification of the Vessel Strike Avoidance measures mentioned above which allow for safe seismic operations. The seismic research vessel will be towing a substantial amount of highly specialized equipment and must maintain a minimum speed of three knots to sustain the tension of the equipment necessary to avoid a collapse that would pose safety risks to personnel and result in possible equipment loss, significant financial loss, and prolonged duration of the survey. Therefore, during the operation, the seismic research vessel will slow to no less than three knots and divert to avoid a strike incident of any ESA species sighted within 100 m (328 ft) from the vessels path, as safely and reasonably as possible.

11.2 Buffer zone

A 17.5 km (10.8 mile) buffer zone between simultaneously operating seismic surveys will be in place to provide a movement corridor for marine mammals where seismic acoustic source noise is well below the Level B harassment threshold. A buffer zone establishes the minimum separation distance between other operating seismic research vessels. A 17.5 km (10.8 mi) buffer zone is the standard distance recognized by seismic operators to avoid incidental overlapping of very low frequency transmissions from separate surveys. The permit conditions set by the BOEM will list the contact information for operators who will be conducting a seismic operation in the general area at the same time. CGG will coordinate with other operators to avoid seismic acoustic source activity within the 17.5 km (10.8 mi) buffer zone as is reasonably practicable and safe.

There is currently no scientific evidence which indicates any potential aggregate effects from simultaneous seismic survey operations. The seismic acoustic source is engineered to direct its energy downward rather than laterally, which the NMFS has acknowledged as a mitigation measure (New Jersey v. NSF 2014). Research conducted by Richardson et al. (1995b) suggests that marine mammal disturbance is unlikely due to the rapid decay of the horizontal sound energy generated by the seismic acoustic source.

11.3 Seismic acoustic source operations

A 907 m (2,975 ft) mitigation zone was established by estimating the distance from the proposed 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source at which sound pressure levels exceed 180 dB re 1 μ Pa-m rms. Section 1.4.1.2 explains the methodology in detail. Specifically, the defined mitigation zone is the radius surrounding the center of the seismic acoustic source array at which Level A harassment could occur. As mentioned previously, the current NMFS injury criteria policy states that marine mammals should not be exposed to a broadband-received sound pressure level of 180 dB rms (Level A harassment).

Independent Protected Species Observers (PSO) and Passive Acoustic Monitoring (PAM) operators will be contracted to monitor the mitigation zone and surrounding areas during the 24/7 seismic operation. PSO will carry out continuous visual monitoring for daytime operations. Operations conducted during night or poor visibility (when the full mitigation zone cannot be visually observed) will be monitored continuously by a PAM operator. Section 14.1 details the roles and responsibilities of PSO and PAM operators.

11.3.1 Pre-watch search

Prior to activating the seismic acoustic source, the mitigation zone and adjacent area will be visually or acoustically monitored by PSO and PAM Operators for 30 minutes. The soft start may be initiated if no marine mammal is detected or observed within the mitigation zone during the pre-watch search. If a marine mammal is detected within the mitigation zone during the pre-watch search, the soft start procedure will be delayed for 30 minutes from the time of the last sighting or detection in the mitigation zone.

11.3.2 Soft start procedure

The purpose of the soft start is to alert marine life of the pending seismic operation in the area and allow sufficient time for those animals to move away and avoid the highest source levels. The soft start consists of activating the 70 in³ seismic acoustic source element (the smallest element in terms of energy output and

volume) and doubling the number of active elements over equal increments of time as is possible until all acoustic elements are operational (i.e., full power). The seismic acoustic source control software is programmed to carry out a soft start over a period of 20 to 40 minutes based on the source-specific parameters. Richardson et al. (1997) predicts that soft starts could reduce the likelihood of acoustic impact as marine mammals find the sound aversive and will move away before hearing damage or physiological effects occur. A soft start procedure will be carried out prior to starting a new line or testing the seismic acoustic source.

11.3.3 Shut down and power down

When active, the seismic acoustic source has the potential to result in physiological or behavioral responses of a marine mammal in close proximity. Shut down and power down procedures for marine mammals entering the 907 m (2,975 ft) mitigation zone will be in place during the proposed seismic survey. A shut down is the action of stopping seismic survey acquisition by immediately turning off power to the active seismic acoustic source. A power down is the action of reducing the energy output of the seismic acoustic source to the smallest acoustic element (see section 1.3.2). For our proposed survey, a power down will be achieved by immediately silencing all seismic acoustic elements with the exception of the 70 in³ element. Nucleus+ modeling (see section 1.3.2.1) determined the peak-to-peak pressure signature, or total energy output, of the 70 in³ element to be 216 dB rms re 1 μ Pa-m (0.89 bar-m) at 1 m (3.2 ft) below the seismic acoustic source. Based on this energy output, the estimated distance from the seismic acoustic source at which received sound levels are ≥ 180 dB re 1 μ Pa rms is 50 m (164 ft).

PSO and PAM operators will conduct continuous monitoring and make judgement calls on mitigation action when necessary. Based on the measures above, it is unlikely that takes by Level A harassment will occur.

11.3.3.1 Whales

If at any time a whale is visually or acoustically detected entering the mitigation zone the observer or operator on duty will call for the immediate shut down of the seismic acoustic source. When the operator on duty confirms that no marine mammal has been detected within the mitigation zone for at least a 30-minute period, a soft start can commence and the seismic operation can continue.

11.3.3.2 Dolphins

No mitigation action will be required if a dolphin is visually observed to be "voluntarily approaching" the seismic research vessel or towed seismic equipment. A voluntary approach is defined as a clear and purposeful approach toward the vessel by a dolphin at a speed and vector that indicates the dolphin intends to approach the vessel (BOEM PEIS, C-21). NMFS (2001, p.9293) states that an exposure to a specific activity that does not disrupt an animal's normal behavioral pattern should not require a take authorization. Therefore, a dolphin voluntarily approaching the seismic research vessel during acquisition would not be considered to display an adverse behavioral reaction that is significant enough to constitute a disturbance. A power down will be observed when a dolphin is:

• visually detected entering the mitigation zone and the PSO determines the dolphin does not intend to approach the vessel

• acoustically detected entering the mitigation zone and a visual observation to determine the dolphin's intent is not possible

The seismic acoustic source impulse interval, or energy release, will remain at 25 m (65.61 ft) to maintain consistency with the normal operating mode. If a dolphin comes within 50 m (164 ft) of the seismic acoustic source where received sound levels are estimated to be ≥ 180 dB then a shut down will commence immediately. The 70 in³ acoustic element will be activated again when the animal is confirmed to have moved at least 50 m (164 ft) away from the source. Full power will resume when the PSO and/or PAM operator can confirm the dolphins have left the 907 m (2,975 ft) mitigation zone or are engaged in bow riding or wake riding.

11.3.4 Testing of the seismic acoustic source

Testing of the seismic acoustic source array may be required as a quality control measure to ensure that all seismic acoustic source elements are functioning properly. All seismic acoustic source testing should be preceded by a 30 minute visual or acoustic pre-watch period. The protocol for different testing is as follows:

- **Single acoustic element test.** A soft start will not be observed when only one acoustic element on the seismic acoustic source is being tested. If the test is carried out just prior to start of line, a soft start will commence when the test is completed.
- **Multiple or full source array testing.** A soft start procedure will be carried out until the desired element volumes to be tested are reached, beginning with the lowest volume element. If the test is carried out just prior to the start of line, the gradual activation of seismic acoustic source elements should continue until the full source array is active. The latter should suffice as a soft start and hence should be carried over a period of 20 to 40 minutes.

If a marine mammal is acoustically or visually detected in the mitigation zone during the pre-watch monitoring period, the test will be delayed until the mitigation zone is confirmed clear of marine mammals for 30 minutes.

11.3.5 Line changes

The seismic acoustic source will be silenced following the end of a line. PSO or PAM operators will maintain watch during this time.

11.3.6 Silent periods

Any silent period of the seismic acoustic source for reasons including but not limited to mechanical or electronic failure resulting in the cessation of the source for a period greater than 20 minutes will require a 30 minute all clear period and full soft start. If a silent period is less than 20 minutes, a soft start will not be required when (1) visual or acoustic monitoring is carried out continuously throughout the silent period and (2) no marine mammals are observed in the 907 m (2,975 ft) mitigation zone. A soft start will be required if marine mammals are present in the area during the short silent period.

12.0 ARCTIC PLAN OF COOPERATION

Not applicable. The proposed activity will take place off of the U.S coastline in the Mid- and South-Atlantic between 30° and 40° N latitude. No activities will take place in or near a traditional Arctic subsistence hunting area. Therefore, there are no relevant subsistence uses for marine mammals implicated by this action.

13.0 MONITORING AND REPORTING PLAN

The monitoring and reporting plan for CGG's proposed 2D seismic program is based on the National Standards for a Protected Species Observer and Data Management Program: A Model Using Geological and Geophysical Surveys (Baker et al. 2013) (Joint NTL No. 2012-G02). The plan establishes a monitoring protocol and dictates the minimum qualification requirements in addition to job responsibilities of PSO and PAM operators. The reporting plan is built to increase knowledge of the marine mammal species in the area. It also addresses the protocol for injured or dead marine mammal encounters. CGG will contract independent third-party PSO and PAM operators to conduct monitoring onboard the seismic research vessel.

13.1 Monitoring

The duties of PSO and PAM operators are to (1) ensure that disturbance to marine mammals is minimized according to the operational permit stipulations; (2) document the effects of the proposed seismic activities on marine mammals; and (3) collect data on the occurrence and distribution of marine mammals in the proposed survey area.

13.1.1 Visual monitoring

There will be three PSO onboard the seismic research vessel to conduct visual monitoring for marine life. There will be two PSO, working no more than four hour shift rotations, monitoring continuously from dawn to dusk. Visual monitoring will be carried out using 7 x 50 reticle binoculars, the naked eye, or the Big Eye installed on the wheelhouse exterior deck. The observers will stand watch in safe locations that allow for optimal viewpoints and 360° coverage. Visual monitoring will be diligent and free of distractions for the duration of the watch. The PSO will have no other job responsibilities while onboard the seismic research vessel.

During a sighting, the observer who first sighted the marine mammal will closely monitor the animal's movement and, if possible, identify the species. The second observer will serve as the data recorder and alert the crew if mitigation is required. They will also assist with monitoring. The PSO will remain on continuous watch even if the seismic acoustic source is not operating to compare animal abundance and behaviors during times of production and silence.

The PSO must have the following qualifications: (1) a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university with a major in one of the natural sciences and a minimum of 30 semester hours or equivalent in the biological sciences; (2) experience with computer data entry; and (3) a certificate of completion of a BOEM recognized PSO training course.

13.1.2 Passive Acoustic Monitoring (PAM)

PAM data has become increasingly useful as a tool for defining marine mammal populations and stocks (Delarue et al. 2009) and appears to be very effective for detecting vocalizing marine mammal species when they are not visible. The use of PAM assists in the monitoring of acoustic takes authorized under the MMPA. Mitigation action will be taken when animals are acoustically detected within the mitigation zone.

A PAM system will be used for detecting, localizing (range and bearing), and classifying vocalizing marine mammals in real time. A typical PAM system is comprised of a tow cable, deck cable, and a data processing and monitoring system which processes, displays, and stores selected data. The systems have a listening frequency range between 10 Hz - 180 kHz. A minimum of three hydrophones covering the whole frequency range are used to determine the bearing and range for a detection signal. A Global Positioning System (GPS) receiver will assist in tracking acoustic detections relative to the seismic acoustic source and the seismic research vessel. As new technology improvements may become available, the specific PAM system will be confirmed close to the survey start date.

Continuous acoustic monitoring will be conducted by two PAM operators working coordinated shifts during periods of darkness and low visibility. The PAM system will be installed in the instrument room or in the wheelhouse to allow for fast, efficient communication between the crew and PSO. Acoustic monitoring must be diligent and free of distractions for the duration of the watch. The PAM operators can act as PSO if necessary but will otherwise have no other job assignments onboard. In the event of an acoustic detection which requires mitigation action (i.e., shut down, power down, delay to soft start) the operator on duty will communicate accordingly to the relevant crew and, if on duty, the PSO.

The PAM operator must be proficient in identifying species, calibrating the PAM system, and troubleshooting issues to take advantage of the benefits of PAM. In addition to the PSO qualification requirements as stated in Section 14.1.1, PAM operators must have completed a PAM training course which includes a minimum of two days of classroom training and one day of technical and practical training offshore.

13.1.3 Fixed 'Big Eye' binoculars

Big Eye binoculars will be used to complement visual monitoring. These large, high magnification binoculars will aid the PSO in confirming sightings and determining if mitigation measures are required. A reticle enables the PSO to assess more accurately the distance of the marine mammal from the seismic acoustic source and observe behaviors that would otherwise be out of range. The binoculars will be mounted at a location on the wheelhouse deck which allows for an optimal viewing range.

13.2 Reporting

The PSO & PAM Operator Effort, Survey, and Sighting Data Report will be submitted to Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement (BSEE) on the last day of each month unless a sighting takes place which results in a shutdown. The report will detail the monitoring time of the PSO and PAM operator and the details of protected species sightings or acoustic detections. Any sightings or acoustic detections that require a shut down of the seismic acoustic source will be submitted to BSEE within 24 hours. These sightings will also be included in the regular monthly report following the incident.

The PSO & PAM Operator Effort, Survey, and Sighting Data Report will include the following information:

- Vessel name
- Date
- Time
- PSO/ PAM Operator names and affiliations
- Survey type (e.g; 2D)
- BOEM permit number
- Time when survey (observing and activities) began and ended.
- Vessel location (latitude/longitude) when survey (observing and activities) began / ended
- Vessel heading and speed (knots)
- Environmental conditions while on visual survey (including weather and sea state)
- Factors that may be contributing to impaired observations during each PSO shift change or as needed as environmental conditions change (e.g., vessel traffic, equipment malfunction)
- G&G activity information, such as the number and volume of seismic acoustic sources operating in the array, tow depth of the array, and any other notes of significance (i.e., pre-watch, ramp up, power down, shut down, testing, ramp up completion, end of operations, streamers)
- If a marine mammal is sighted, the following information will be recorded:
 - Watch status (sighting or detections made by PSO, PAM operator, crew, or other vessel)
 - PSO or PAM Operator who sighted or detected the animal
 - Time of sighting
 - Vessel location at time of sighting
 - Water depth (m)
 - Vessel heading (compass direction)
 - Direction of animal's travel relative to the vessel (drawing is preferred)
 - Pace of the animal
 - Estimated distance to the animal and its heading relative to vessel at initial sighting
 - Identification of the animal (genus/species/sub-species)
 - Estimated number of animals (high/low/best)
 - Estimated number of animals by cohort (adults, yearlings, juveniles, calves, group composition, etc.)
 - Certainty of identification
 - Description (as many distinguishing features as possible of each individual seen, including length, shape, color, pattern, scars or markings, shape and size of dorsal fin, shape of head, and blow characteristics)
 - Detailed behavior observations (e.g., number of blows, number of surfaces, breaching, spy hopping, diving, feeding, traveling, including any observed changes)
 - Animal's closest point of approach (CPA) and/or closest distance from the center point of the seismic acoustic source array
 - Activity at time of sighting (e.g., deploying, recovering, testing, data acquisition, etc.)
 - Description of any actions implemented in response to the sighting (e.g., soft start delay, power down, shut down, speed or course alteration, etc.) including the time and location of the action

- If a marine mammal is detected while using the PAM system, the following information will be recorded
 - An acoustic encounter identification number and information as to whether the detection was linked with a visual sighting
 - Time when animal was first and last heard
 - Types and nature of sounds heard (e.g., clicks, whistles, creaks, burst pulses, continuous, sporadic, strength of signal, etc.)
 - Any additional information recorded such as water depth of the hydrophone array
 - Bearing of the animal to the vessel (if determinable), species or taxonomic group (if determinable), spectrogram images, and any other notable information

In the unanticipated event that the specified seismic survey activity clearly causes the take of a marine mammal in a manner prohibited by the IHA, such as an injury (Level A harassment), serious injury or mortality (e.g., ship strike, gear interaction, and/or entanglement), CGG shall immediately cease the specified activities and immediately report the incident to the Chief of the Permits and Conservation Division, Office of Protected Resources, NMFS, at (301) 427-8401 and/or by email, and the NMFS Southeast Region Marine Mammal Stranding Network at (877) 433-8299, Florida Marine Mammal Stranding Hotline at (888) 404-3922. The report must include the following information:

- Vessel name and type
- Date
- Time
- Location (latitude/longitude) of the incident
- Vessel speed during and leading up to the incident
- Description of the incident
- All seismic acoustic source activity in the 24 hours preceding the incident
- Water depth
- Environmental conditions (e.g., wind speed and direction, Beaufort sea state, cloud cover and visibility)
- Description of marine mammal observations in the 24 hours preceding the incident: species identification or description of the animal(s) involved
- Animal's state
- Photographs or video footage of the animal (if equipment is available)

Activities will not resume until NMFS is able to review the circumstances of the prohibited take. CGG will coordinate with NMFS to determine what is necessary to minimize the likelihood of further prohibited takes and ensure MMPA compliance. CGG will not resume seismic acquisition activities until notified by NMFS via letter, e-mail, or telephone.

In the event of an injured or dead marine mammal for which the lead PSO determines that the cause of the injury or death is unknown and the death is relatively recent (i.e., in less than a moderate state of decomposition as described in the next paragraph), CGG will immediately report the incident to the Chief of the Permits and Conservation Division, Office of Protected Resources, NMFS, at (301) 427-8401, and the NMFS Southeast Region Marine Mammal Stranding Network (877) 433-8299, and to the NMFS

Southeast Regional Stranding Coordinator and Southeast Regional Stranding Program Administrator. The report must include the same information as identified in the previous paragraph. Activities may continue while the NMFS reviews the circumstances of the incident. CGG will coordinate with the NMFS to determine whether modifications in their activities are required.

In the event that CGG discovers an injured or dead marine mammal and the lead PSO determines that the injury or death is not associated with or related to the activities included in this IHA (e.g., previously wounded animal, carcass with moderate to advanced decomposition, or scavenger damage), CGG shall report the incident to the NMFS Chief of the Permits and Conservation Division, Office of Protected Resources at (301) 427-8401, the NMFS Southeast Region Marine Mammal Stranding Network (877) 433-8299, and to the Southeast Regional Stranding Coordinator and Southeast Regional Stranding Program Administrator, within 24 hours of the discovery. CGG shall provide photographs or video footage (if available) or other documentation of the stranded animal sighting to the NMFS reviews the circumstances of the incident.

At the completion of the survey, CGG will provide a draft report on all activities and monitoring results to the Office of Protected Resources, NMFS, within 90 days of the completion of the Atlantic 2D Offshore Seismic Program. The report will contain the following:

- a summary of the monthly reports submitted to BSEE
- a comparison of the estimated number of individual marine mammals species that have been exposed to the 160 dB re 1 μ Pa (rms) and, if applicable, 180 dB re 1 μ Pa (rms) sound levels during the survey (based on visual observation or acoustic detection) vs. the estimated number of individual species exposed to 160 dB re 1 μ Pa (rms) and 180 dB re 1 μ Pa (rms) as identified in the marine mammal exposure estimates of the 5,400 in³ seismic acoustic source modeling. A discussion section will include information about any specific behaviors for the observed or detected individuals exhibited and analysis of the results
- a description of the implementation and effectiveness of the terms and conditions of the IHA and operational permit for minimizing the adverse effects of the survey activity

A full report will be submitted to the Chief, Permits and Conservation Division, Office of Protected Resources, NMFS within 30 days after receiving comments from NMFS on the draft report. If the NMFS approves the draft report contents, the said draft report shall be considered to be the final report.

14.0 SUGGESTED MEANS OF COOPERATION

CGG will discuss with NMFS to ensure the mitigation and monitoring plan proposed in this IHA is effective and results in a negligible impact to marine mammal species and their habitat. We remain committed to an improved understanding of the cumulative effects of seismic exploration. We are open to discuss the specific needs required by NMFS which will contribute to research-based knowledge of mitigation effectiveness and species data.

CGG has contacted the East Coast states associated with our proposed 2D seismic program to explain the scope of work and address all state concerns. We will continue to coordinate with the state legislative personnel and specific group representatives throughout all stages of the proposed seismic program.

CITED LITERATURE

Aerts, L., M. Blees, S. Blackwell, C. Greene, K. Kim, D. Hannay, and M. Austin. 2008. Marine mammal monitoring and mitigation during BP Liberty OBC seismic survey in Foggy Island Bay, Beaufort Sea, July-August 2008: 90-day report. LGL Rep. P1011-1. Prepared by LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc., LGL Ltd., Greeneridge Sciences Inc. and JASCO Applied Sciences Ltd. for BP Exploration Alaska.

ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.2 Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.

Baird, R.W.; Webster, D.L; Swaim, Z.; Foley, H.J.; Anderson, D.B; Read, A.J. 2015. Spatial Use by Cuvier's Beaked Whales, Short-finned Pilot Whales, Common Bottlenose Dolphins, and Short-beaked Common Dolphins Satellite Tagged off Cape Hatteras, North Carolina, in 2014. Draft Report. Prepared for U.S. Fleet Forces Command. Submitted to Naval Facilities Engineering Command Atlantic, Norfolk, Virginia, under Contract No. N62470-10-3011, Task Orders 14 and 21, issued to HDR Inc., Virginia Beach, Virginia. 17 July 2015. Accessed online at:

http://www.navymarinespeciesmonitoring.us/files/7814/3750/5412/Baird_et_al_2015_Hatteras_Odontoce te_Tagging - FINAL.pdf Accessed on: October 19, 2015.

Baird, R. W.; Webster, D. L.; Schorr, G. S.; McSweeney, D. J.; Barlow, J. 2008. Diel variation in beaked whale diving behavior. Marine Mammal Science, 24: 630–642. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.2008.00211.x.

Baird, RW. 2002. False killer whale *Pseudorca crassidens*. In: Encyclopedia Of Marine Mammals (Perrin WF, Wursig B, Thewissen JGM, eds.) Academic Press, San Diego, CA. pp. 411-412.

Baraff, LS.; Asmutis, SRA. 1998. Long-term association of an individual long-finned pilot whale and Atlantic white-sided dolphins. Mar Mamm Sci 14: 155-161. Accessed September 18, 2015.

Becker, E.A., Forney, K.A., Foley, D.G., Barlow, J., 2012. Density and spatial distribution patterns of cetaceans in the central North Pacific based on habitat models. US Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest Fisheries Science Center.

Berini, C. 2009. Pygmy sperm whale (Kogia breviceps, De Blainville 1838) strandings along theAtlantic Coast of the southeastern United States: Analysis of association with environmental factors.CollegeofCharleston.Availablehttp://repository.library.cofc.edu/bitstream/handle/11249/162/Berini_cofc_1000M_10013.pdf?sequence=1. Accessed on: November 2, 2015.

Buffrenil, V. 1995. Mesoplodon mirus – TrueZweizahnwal. In: Handbuch der Säugetiere Europas. Meeressäuger. Teil IB: Wale und Delphine 2 (Robineau D, Duguy R and Klima M, eds.) Aula-Verlag, Wiesbaden. pp. 561-574.

Blackwell, S.B., C.S. Nations, T.L. McDonald, C.R. Greene, Jr., A.M. Thode, M. Guerra, and A.M. Macrander. 2013. Effects of airgun sounds on bowhead whale calling rates in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 29(4):E342-E365.

Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM), Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. 2014. Atlantic OCS Proposed Geological and Geophysical Activities, Mid-Atlantic and South Atlantic Planning Areas. Final Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement. Prepared under GSA Task Order No. M11PD00013 by CSA Ocean Sciences Inc. 8502 SW Kansas Avenue, Stuart, Florida 34997.

Baker, K., Epperson, D.; Gitschlag, G.; H. Goldstein; J. Lewandowski; Skrupky, K; Smith, B; Turk, T. 2013. National Standards for a Protected Species Observer and Data Management Program: A Model Using Geological and Geophysical Surveys. US Department of Commerce. NOAA Technical Memorandum. NMFS-OPR-49. 73 p. Available at:

http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/publications/techmemo/observers_nmfsopr49.pdf. Accessed on January 18, 2015.

Barco, S. G., McLellan, W. A., Allen, J. M., Asmutis-Silvia, R. A., Mallon-Day, R., Meagher, E., . . . Clapham, P. J. (2002). Population identity of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in the waters of the U.S. mid-Atlantic states. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 4(2), 135-141.

Best, B. D., Halpin, P. N., Read, A. J., Fujioka, E., Good, C. P., LaBrecque, E. A., Schick, R. S., et al., 2012. "Online Cetacean Habitat Modeling System for the US East Coast and Gulf of Mexico". *Endangered Species Research*, 18: 1-15. Available at:<u>http://www.int-res.com/articles/esr_oa/n018p001.pdf</u>. doi: 10.3354/esr00430.

Byrd, B.L., A.A. Hohn, G.N. Lovewell, K.M. Altman, S.G. Barco, A. Friedlaender, C.A. Harms, W.A. McLellan, K.T. Moore, P.E. Rosel, and V.G. Thayer. 2014. Strandings as indicators of marine mammal biodiversity and human interactions off the coast of North Carolina. Fishery Bulletin 112(1):1-23. Available at: <u>http://fishbull.noaa.gov/1121/byrd.pdf</u>. Accessed: September 25, 2015

Castellote, M., C.W. Clark, and M.O. Lammers. 2012. Acoustic and behavioural changes by fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) in response to shipping and airgun noise. Biol. Conserv. 147(1):115-122

Cerchio, S., S. Strindberg, T. Collins, C. Bennett, and H. Rosenbaum. 2014. Seismic surveys negatively affect humpback whale singing activity off northern Angola. PLoS ONE 9(3):e86464. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0086464.

Clapham, P.J., L.S. Baraff, C.A. Carlson, M.A. Christian, D.K. Mattila, C.A. Mayo, M.A. Murphy, and S. Pittman 1993. Seasonal occurrence and annual return of humpback whales, Megaptera novaeangliae, in the southern Gulf of Maine. Can. J. Zool. 71: 440-443.

Cetacean and Turtle Assessment Program (CETAP).1982. A characterization of marine mammals and turtles in the mid-and north Atlantic areas of the US outer continental shelf. Final Report. Bureau of Land Management, Washington, DC. Ref. AA551-CT8-48.

Carwardine, M. 1995. Whales, Dolphins and Porpoises. Dorling Kindersley, London, UK, 257 pp.

Cholewiak, D.; Baumann-Pickering, S.; and Van Parijs, S. 2013. Description of sounds associated with Sowerby's beaked whales (Mesoplodon bidens) in the western North Atlantic Ocean. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 134 (5)3905-3912.

Cole, T., Hamilton, P., Henry, A., Duley, P., Pace, R., White, B., Frasier, T. 2013. Evidence of a North Atlantic right whale Eubalaena glacialis mating ground. Evidence of a North Atlantic Right Whale Eubalaena Glacialis Mating Ground. Endangered Species Research 21: 55-64. Available at: <u>http://www.int-res.com/articles/esr_oa/n021p055.pdf</u>. Accessed on November 30, 2014.

Collins, M.D. 1993. A split-step Pade solution for the parabolic equation method. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 93(4):1736-1742.

Culik, B. M. 2004. Review of small cetaceans. Distribution, Behaviour, Migration and Threats. Regional Seas Reports and Studies, pp.177. Downloaded online: September 18, 2015.

Cummings, W.C. 1985. Bryde's whale. In: Ridgeway, S.H. and R. Harrison, eds. Handbook of marine mammals, Volume 3: The sirenians and baleen whales. London: Academic Press. Pp. 137-154.

Davis, R.W., J.G. Ortega-Ortiz, C.A. Ribic, W.E. Evans, D.C. Biggs, P.H. Ressler, R.B. Cady, R.R. Leben, K.D. Mullin, and B. Würsig. 2002. Cetacean habitat in the northern oceanic Gulf of Mexico. Deep-Sea Res. I 49(1):121-142.

Debich, A.J., S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Širović, S.M. Kerosky, L.K. Roche, S.C. Johnson, R.S. Gottlieb, Z.E. Gentes, S.M. Wiggins, and J.A. Hildebrand. 2013. Passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals in the Jacksonville Range Complex 2010-2011. MPL Technical Memorandum #541. La Jolla, CA, Marine Physical Laboratory.

Debich, A.J., S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Širović, J.S. Buccowich, Z.E. Gentes, R.S. Gottlieb, S.C. Johnson, S.M. Kerosky, L.K. Roche, B. Thayre, J.T. Trickey, S.M. Wiggins, and J.A. Hildebrand. 2014. Passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals in the Cherry Point OPAREA 2011-2012. MPL Technical Memorandum #545. La Jolla, CA, Marine Physical Laboratory.

Delarue J.; Todd SK; Van Parijs SM, DiIorio L. 2009. Geographic variation in Northwest Atlantic fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus) song: implications for stock structure assessment. J Acoust Soc Am 125(3):1774-82. doi: 10.1121/1.3068454. Accessed 09 March 2015.

Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO). 2004. Review of Scientific Information on Impacts of Seismic Sound on Fish, Invertebrates, Marine Turtles and Marine Mammals. Available at: http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/csas/Csas/status/2004/HSR2004_002_E.pdf

DoN (Department of the Navy). 2008. Marine resource assessment update for the Charleston/Jacksonville Operating Area. Department of the Navy, US Fleet Forces Command, Norfolk, VA. Contract No. N62470- 02-D-9997, CTO 0056. Prepared by GeoMarine, Inc., Hampton, VA.
DoN. 2013. Comprehensive Exercise and Marine Species Monitoring Report For the U.S. Navy's Atlantic Fleet Active Sonar Training (AFAST) and Virginia Capes, Cherry Point, Jacksonville, and Gulf of Mexico Range Complexes 2009-2012. Department of the Navy, United States Fleet Forces Command, Norfolk, Virginia.

Dragoset W.H. 1990. "Air-gun specs: A tutorial" in Geophysics: the Leading Edge of Exploration 9:24-32. doi:10.1190/1.1439671

Dragoset, W.H. 2000. Introduction to air guns and air gun arrays. The Leading Edge of Exploration. 19:892-897.

Ellison, W.T., B.L. Southall, C.W. Clark, and A.S. Frankel. 2011. A new context-based approach to assess marine mammal behavioral responses to anthropogenic sounds. Conservation Biology, online version published December 19, 2011. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01803.x.

Finneran, J.J.; Carder, D.A.; Schlundt, C.E.; Ridgway, S.H. 2005. Temporary threshold shift in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) exposed to mid-frequency tones. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 118:2696-2705.

Foote A.; Kuningas, S.; Samarra, F. 2014. North Atlantic killer whale research; past, present and future forward. J. Mar. Biol. Soc. UK 94:1245-1252. Downloaded: September 9, 2015

Forney KA, Wade PR (2007) Worldwide Distribution and Abundance of Killer Whales. In: Whales, whaling and ocean ecosystems (Estes JA, DeMaster DP, Doak DF, Williams TM, Brownell RL, eds). University of California Press, Berkeley, California. pp. 145-162.

Geo-Marine, Inc. (GMI). (2010). Ocean/wind power ecological baseline studies, January 2008 – December 2009 (Final Report). Trenton, NJ: Department of Environmental Protection, Office of Science. Retrieved 5 January 2015 from <u>www.nj.gov/dep/dsr/ocean-wind/report.htm</u>.

Goertner, J. F. (1982). Prediction of Underwater Explosion Safe Ranges for Sea Mammals. Dahlgren, Virginia, Naval Surface Weapons Center: 25.

Griffin, R.B.; Griffin, N.J. 2004. Temporal Variation in Atlantic Spotted Dolphin (Stenella frontalis) and Bottlenose Dolphin (Tursiops truncatus) Densities on the West Florida Continental Shelf. Aquatic Mammals (Impact Factor: 1.02). 01/2004; 30(3):380-390. DOI: 10.1578/AM.30.3.2004.380. Downloaded at: <u>http://mote.org/clientuploads/marmamseaturtle/offshore_cetaean/Griffin2004AqMamm.pdf</u> . Accessed on: October 15, 2015.

Hain, J.H.W., M.J. Ratnaswamy, R.D. Kenney and H.E. Winn. 1992. The fin whale, *Balaenoptera physalus*, in waters of the northeastern United States continental shelf. Rep. Int. Whal. Comm. 42:653-669.

Halpin, P.N., A.J. Read, E. Fujioka, B.D. Best, B. Donnelly, L.J. Hazen, C. Kot, K. Urian, E. LaBrecque, A. Dimatteo, J. Cleary, C. Good, L.B. Crowder, and K.D. Hyrenbach. 2009. OBIS-SEAMAP: The world data center for marine mammal, sea bird, and sea turtle distributions. Oceanography 22(2):104-115.

Hammond, P.S., Bearzi, G., Bjørge, A., Forney, K., Karczmarski, L., Kasuya, T., Perrin, W.F., Scott, M.D., Wang, J.Y., Wells, R.S. & Wilson, B. 2008. *Lagenorhynchus acutus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 03 February 2015

Hammond, P.S.; Bearzi, G.; Bjørge, A.; Forney, K.A.; Karkzmarski, L.; Kasuya, T.; Perrin, W.F.; Scott, M.D.; Wang, J.Y.; Wells, R.S. & Wilson, B. 2012. *Lagenodelphis hosei*. Version 2015.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 25 May 2015.

Hannay, D.E.; Racca, R.G. 2005. Acoustic Model Validation. Document 0000-S-90-04-T-7006-00-E, Revision 02. Technical report for Sakhalin Energy Investment Company Ltd. by JASCO Research Ltd. 34 p. Online: <u>http://www.sakhalinenergy.com/en/documents/doc_33_jasco.pdf</u>

Hannay, D., Warner, G. 2009. Acoustic measurements of airgun arrays and vessels. (Chapter 3) In: Ireland, D.S., R. Rodrigues, D. Funk, W. Koski, D. Hannay. (eds.). 2009. Marine mammal monitoring and mitigation during open water seismic exploration by Shell Offshore Inc. in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas, July–October 2008: 90-day report. Online: http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/permits/shell_seismic_monitoring_mitigation.pdf. LGL Rep. P1049-1. Rep. from LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc., LGL Ltd., and JASCO Research Ltd. for Shell Offshore Inc, Nat. Mar. Fish. Serv., and US Fish and Wild. Serv. 277 pp, plus appendices.

Hedley, S.L., Buckland, S.T., 2004. Spatial models for line transect sampling. J. Agric. Biol. Environ. Stat. 9, 181–199. doi:10.1198/1085711043578

High Energy Seismic Survey (HESS). 1999. High energy seismic survey review process and interim operational guidelines for marine surveys offshore Southern California. Prepared for The California State Lands Commission and the Minerals Management Service Pacific Outer Continental Shelf Region. Online:<u>http://www.brasil-</u>

rounds.gov.br/round7/arquivos r7/SISMICA R7/biblio R7/HESS%201999%20Southern%20California. pdf

Hyrenbach, David. 2013. Sargasso 2005 - cetacean sightings. Provided by Dalhousie University and downloaded from OBIS-SEAMAP on November 10, 2015.

International Fund for Animal Welfare (IFAW). 2015. FAQs about strandings. Accessed online: <u>http://www.ifaw.org/united-states/our-work/animal-rescue/faqs-about-strandings</u>. Accessed on: December 2, 2015.

Jaquet, N., S. Dawson, and E. Slooten. 2000. Seasonal distribution and diving behaviour of male sperm whales off Kaikoura: Foraging implications. The Canadian Journal of Zoology 78:407-419.

Jefferson, T. A., Weir, C. R., Anderson, R. C., Ballance, L. T., Kenney, R. D. and Kiszka, J. J. (2014), Global distribution of Risso's dolphin *Grampus griseus*: a review and critical evaluation. Mammal Review, 44: 56–68. doi: 10.1111/mam.12008.

Jefferson, T.A.; Leatherwood, S.; Webber, M.A. 1993. FAO species identification guide. Marine mammals of the world. Rome, FAO. 320 p. 587 figs.

Jefferson, T.A.; B.E. Curry. 2003. Stenella clymene. Mammalian Species 726:1-5

Johnson, S.C., A. Širović, J.S. Buccowich, A.J. Debich, L.K. Roche, B. Thayre, S.M. Wiggins, J.A. Hildebrand, L.E.W. Hodge, and A.J. Read. 2014. Passive Acoustic Monitoring for Marine Mammals in the Jacksonville Range Complex 2010. Final Report. Submitted to Naval Facilities Engineering Command (NAVFAC) Atlantic, Norfolk, Virginia, under Contract No. N62470-10D-3011 issued to HDR, Inc.

Kenney, R.D., Scott, G.P.; Thompson, T.J.;. Winn, H.E. 1997. Estimates of prey consumption and trophic impacts of cetaceans in the USA northeast continental shelf ecosystem. J. Northwest Fish. Sci. 22: 155-171. Online: <u>http://journal.nafo.int/J22/Kenney.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 17, 2015.

Kenney, R.; Hyman, M.; Winn, H. 1985. Calculation of standing stocks and energetic requirements of the cetaceans of the northeast United States outer continental shelf. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-F/NEC-41:1-99.

Khan C, Duley P, Henry A, Gatzke J, Cole T. 2014. North Atlantic Right Whale Sighting Survey (NARWSS) and Right Whale Sighting Advisory System (RWSAS) 2013 Results Summary. US Dept Commer, Northeast Fish Sci Cent Ref Doc. 14-11; 10 p. Available from: National Marine Fisheries Service, 166 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 02543-1026, or online at http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/publications/.

Ketten, D.R.; Cramer, S.; Arruda, J. 2007. A manual for the removal, fixation, and preservation of cetacean ears. Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Woods Hole, MA.

Ketten, D.R. 2012. Marine mammal auditory system noise impacts: evidence and incidence. p. 207-212 In: A.N. Popper and A. Hawkins (eds.), The effects of noise on aquatic life. Springer, New York, NY. 695 p.

Kirkwood, J. G., and Bethe, H. A. 1942. The Pressure Wave Produced by an Underwater Explosion-Basic Propagation Theory. US OSRD Report 588.

LaBrecque, E.; Curtice, C.; Harrison, J.; Van Parijs, SM.; Halpin, P. 2015. Biologically Important Areas for Cetaceans Within US Waters - East Coast Region. Aquatic Mammals. 41(1), 17-29, DOI 10.1578/AM.41.1.2015.17.

Laist DW, Knowlton AR, Meade JG, Collet AS, Podesta M. 2001. Collisions between ships and whales. Marine Mammal Science 17:35-75. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.2001.tb00980.x.

Landrø, M. Modelling of GI Gun Signatures. 1992. Geophysical Prospecting 40:7. pp. 721-747. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2478.1992.tb00549.x.

Langhammer, J., Landø, M.; Sollie, R.; Amundsen, L.; Berg, E. "Source signature determination from ministreamer data." Source signature determination from ministreamer data, 59(8) 1992. p.1261-1269.

Laws, R.M; Hatton, L; Haartsen, M. 1990. "Computer modelling of clustered airguns." *First Break* 8:331-338. doi: 10.3997/1365-2397.1990017.

Lawson, J.W. and J.-F. Gosselin. 2009. Distribution and preliminary abundance estimates for cetaceans seen during Canada's Marine Megafauna Survey - A component of the 2007 TNASS. Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat. 33 pp. Available at: <u>http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/csas/</u>

Lawson, J.W. and J.-F. Gosselin. 2011. Fully-corrected cetacean abundance estimates from the Canadian TNASS survey. Working Paper 10. National Marine Mammal Peer Review Meeting. Ottawa, Can. 28 p.

Lawson, J.and Stevens T. 2014. Historic and current distribution patterns, and minimum abundance of killer whales (Orcinus orca) in the north-west Atlantic. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 94, pp 1253-1265. doi:10.1017/S0025315413001409. Accessed online: September 9, 2015

Madsen, P.T., M. Johnson, P.J.O. Miller, N. Aguilar de Soto, J. Lynch, and P.L. Tyack. 2006. Quantitative measures of air gun pulses recorded on sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) using acoustic tags during controlled exposure experiments. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 120:2366–2379.

MarineBio Conservation Society. MarineBio.org. Last update: 1/14/2013 2:22:00 PM. "Blainville's Beaked Whales, Mesoplodon densirostris." <u>http://marinebio.org/species.asp?id=321</u>. Accessed Thursday, November 20, 2014.

McAlpine, D. F. 2002. Pygmy and dwarf sperm whales *Kogia breviceps* and *K. simus*. In: W. F. Perrin, B. Wursig and J. G. M. Thewissen (eds), *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals*, pp. 1007-1009. Academic Press.

Miller, D.L., Burt, M.L., Rexstad, E.A., Thomas, L., 2013. Spatial models for distance sampling data: recent developments and future directions. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 1001–1010. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12105

Mitchell ED, Chapman DG. 1977. Preliminary assessment of stocks of northwest Atlantic sei whales (*Balaenoptera borealis*). Rep Int Whal Comm Spec Issue 1: 117–120.

Miksis, J. L., Connor, R. C., Grund, M. D., Nowacek, D. P., Solow, A. R., Tyack, P. L. (2001). Cardiac responses to acoustic playback experiments in the captive bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus). Journal of Comparative Psychology, 115(3), 227-232.

Morin, P. A., Parsons, K. M., Archer, F. I., Ávila-Arcos, M. C., Barrett-Lennard, L. G., Dalla Rosa, L., Duchêne, S., Durban, J. W., Ellis, G. M., Ferguson, S. H., Ford, J. K., Ford, M. J., Garilao, C., Gilbert, M. T. P., Kaschner, K., Matkin, C. O., Petersen, S. D., Robertson, K. M., Visser, I. N., Wade, P. R., Ho, S. Y. W. and Foote, A. D. (2015), Geographic and temporal dynamics of a global radiation and diversification in the killer whale. Molecular Ecology, 24: 3964–3979. doi: 10.1111/mec.13284 Downloaded: October 15, 2015.

New England Aquarium. 2015. Right Whale Concentration Zone: Southeastern U.S. Online at: <u>http://www.neaq.org/conservation_and_research/projects/endangered_species_habitats/right_whale_resea_rch/right_whale_background/where_right_whales_live/southeastern_us.php</u>. Accessed on: September 22, 2015.

National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2005. Endangered fish and wildlife; Notice of Intent to prepare an Environmental Impact Statement. Fed. Regist. 70:1871-1875.

NMFS. 2001. Small takes of marine mammals incidental to specified activities; oil and gas exploration drilling activities in the Beaufort Sea/Notice of issuance of an incidental harassment authorization. Fed. Regist. 66(26):9291-9298.

NMFS. 2000. Small Takes of Marine Mammals Incidental to Specified Activities; marine seismic-reflection data collection in southern California. Federal Register 65:16374-16379

NMFS. 1999. Cruise results. Summer Atlantic Ocean marine mammal survey. NOAA Ship Oregon II cruise 236 (99- 05), 4 August - 30 September 1999. Available from SEFSC, 3209 Frederic Street, Pascagoula, MS 39567.

NOAA Fisheries Service, Office of Protected Resources (NOAA Fisheries OPR).2015a. 2013-2015 Bottlenose Dolphin Unusual Mortality Event in the Mid-Atlantic. Updated: July 29, 2015. Online: http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/health/mmume/midatldolphins2013.html . Accessed on: October 20th 2015

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2015b. Bryde's Whale (Balaenoptera edeni). Updated: April 6, 2015 Online: <u>http://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/whales/brydes-whale.html</u> Accessed on: September 10, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2015c. Bottlenose Dolphin (Tursiops truncatus). Updated January 16, 2015. Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/dolphins/bottlenose-dolphin.html</u>. Accessed on: October 20th 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2015d. North Atlantic Right Whales (Eubalaena glacialis). Updated February 20, 2015 online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/whales/north-atlantic-right-whale.html</u>. Accessed May 25, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2015e. Blue Whale (Balaenoptera musculus). Updated January 15, 2015. Online: <u>http://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/whales/blue-whale.html</u>. Accessed September 29, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2015f. Fraser's Dolphin (Lagenodelphis hosei). Updated January 15, 2015. Online: <u>http://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/dolphins/frasers-dolphin.html</u>. Accessed September 20, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2015g. Killer whale (*Orcinus orca*). Updated: May 14, 2015. Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/whales/killer-whale.html#footnote</u>. Accessed: October 15, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2014a. Pantropical Spotted Dolphin (*Stenella attenuata*). Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/spotteddolphin_pantropical.htm</u>. Updated: May 15, 2014. Accessed October 7, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2014c. Pygmy Sperm Whale (*Kogia breviceps*). Updated October 20, 2014. Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/pygmyspermwhale.htm</u> Accessed: October 6, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2014d.Spinner Dolphin (*Stenella longirostris*). Updated: May 15, 2014. Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/spinnerdolphin.htm</u>. Accessed October 16, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2013. False Killer Whale (*Pseudorca crassidens*). Updated: August 14, 2013. Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/falsekillerwhale.htm</u>. Accessed on: August 17, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2012a. Sei Whale (*Balaenoptera borealis*). Updated: November 23, 2012. Online at: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/seiwhale.htm</u>. Accessed: October 15, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR.2012b. "Blainville's Beaked Whale (*Mesoplodon densirostris*)". Updated: December 12, 2012. Online:

http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/beakedwhale_blainvilles.htm. Accessed March 11, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2012c. "Risso's Dolphin (*Grampus griseus*)". Updated: December 12, 2012. Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/rissosdolphin.htm</u>. Accessed: October 13, 2015.

NOAA Fisheries OPR. 2012d. "Melon-headed Whale (*Peponocephala electra*)". Online: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/melonheadedwhale.htm</u> Accessed: October 14, 2015.

The North Atlantic Marine Mammal Commission (NAMMCO). 2015. "Common Minke Whale". Online: <u>http://www.nammco.no/marine-mammals/whales-and-dolphins-cetaceans/new-common-minke-whale/</u>. Accessed: October 1, 2015.

National Research Council (NRC). 2005. Marine Mammal Populations and Ocean Noise: Determining When Noise Causes Biologically Significant Effects. U. S. National Research Council, Ocean Studies Board. (Authors D.W. Wartzok, J. Altmann, W. Au, K. Ralls, A. Starfield, and P.L. Tyack). National Academies Press, Washington, DC.

Nowacek, D.; Johnson, M.; Tyack, P. 2004. North Atlantic right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*) ignore ships but respond to alerting stimuli. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 271:227-231. 2004. DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2003.2570.

O'Neill, C., D. Leary, and A. McCrodan. 2010. Sound **Source** Verification. (Chapter 3) In: Blees, M.K., K.G. Hartin, D.S. Ireland, and D. Hannay (eds.). Marine mammal monitoring and mitigation during open water seismic exploration by Statoil USA E&P Inc. in the Chukchi Sea, August-October 2010: 90-day report. LGL Report P1119. Prepared by LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc., LGL Ltd., and JASCO Applied Sciences Ltd. for Statoil USA E&P Inc., National Marine Fisheries Service (US), and US Fish and Wildlife Service. pp. 3-1 to 3-34.

Palka, D., A. J. Read, A. J. Westgate, and D. W. Johnston. 1996. Summary of current knowledge of harbour porpoises in US and Canadian Atlantic waters. Rep. Int. Whaling Comm. 46:559–565

Palka, D., Read, A. and Potter, C. 1997. Summary of knowledge of white-sided dolphins (*Lagenorhynchus acutus*) from US and Canadian Atlantic waters. Reports of the International Whaling Commission 47: 729-734.

Palka, D.L. 2012. Cetacean abundance estimates in US northwestern Atlantic Ocean waters from summer 2011 line transect survey. Northeast Fish. Sci. Cent. Ref. Doc. 12-29. 37 pp. Available at: http://www.nefsc.noaa.gov/publications/crd/crd1229/crd1229.pdf. Accessed: March 11, 2015.

Parkes, G.E; Hatton, L. 1986. The Marine Seismic Source. Dordrecht, Holland. D. Reidel Publishing Company. 114p. ISBN 9027722285

Parks, S. E., M. Johnson, D. Nowacek, and P. L. Tyack. 2011, "Individual right whales call louder in increased environmental noise." Biology Letters. 7:33-35

Payne, P.M., L.A. Selzer and A.R. Knowlton. 1984. Distribution and density of cetaceans, marine turtles and seabirds in the shelf waters of the northeast US, June 1980 - Dec. 1983, based on shipboard observations. National Marine Fisheries Service, Woods Hole. NA81FAC00023: 245

Payne, P. M., Nicolas, J. R., O'Brien, L., & Powers, K. D. 1986. The distribution of the humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, on Georges Bank and in the Gulf of Maine in relation to densities of the sand eel, *Ammodytes americanus*. *Fishery Bulletin*, 84(2), 271-278

Perrin, W. F., Caldwell, D. K. and Caldwell, M. C. 1994. Atlantic spotted dolphin Stenella frontalis (G. Cuvier, 1829). In: S. H. Ridgway and R. Harrison (eds), Handbook of marine mammals, Volume 5: The first book of dolphins, pp. 173-190. Academic Press.

Perryman, W.L. (2002) Melon-headed whale *Peponocephala electra*. In: W. F. Perrin, B. Wursig and J. G. M. Thewissen (eds) *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals*. Academic Press, London.

Pettis, H.M. and Hamilton, P.K. 2014. North Atlantic Right Whale Consortium 2014 annual report card. Report to the North Atlantic Right Whale Consortium. P. 2-3. Available at: <u>http://www.narwc.org/pdf/2014_Report_Card.pdf</u>. Accessed: May 19, 2015.

Pitman RL. 2009. Mesoplodont whales. In: Encyclopedia of marine mammals 2nd Ed. (Perrin WF, Würsig B, Thewissen JGM, eds.) Academic Press, Amsterdam, 721-726.

Popov, V.V., A.Y. Supin, V.V. Rozhnov, D.I. Nechaev, E.V. Sysuyeva, V.O. Klishin, M.G. Pletenko, and M.B. Tarakanov. 2013. Hearing threshold shifts and recovery after noise exposure in beluga whales, Delphinapterus leucas. J. Exp. Biol. 216(9):1587-1596.

Prieto R, Janiger D, Silva MA, Waring GT, Gonçalves JM. 2012. The forgotten whale:a bibliometric analysis and literature review of the North Atlantic Sei whale *Balaenoptera borealis*. Mammal Rev 42: 235–272.

Prieto, R.; Silva, M. Waring, G.; Goncalves, J. 2014. Sei whale movements and behaviour in the North Atlantic inferred from satellite telemetry. Endangered Species Research, 26:103-113. 2014. doi: 10.3354/esr00630. Available at: <u>http://www.int-res.com/articles/esr2015/26/n026p103.pdf</u>. Accessed: February 17, 2015

Pusineri, C., Magnin, V., Meynier, L., Spitz, J., Hassani, S. And Ridoux, V. (2007), Food And Feeding Ecology Of The Common Dolphin (*Delphinus Delphis*) In The Oceanic Northeast Atlantic And Comparison With Its Diet In Neritic Areas. Marine Mammal Science, 23: 30–47. Doi: 10.1111/J.1748-7692.2006.00088.X.

Quinones, M. 2013. "Mesoplodon densirostris" (On-line), Animal Diversity Web. Available at: http://animaldiversity.org/accounts/Mesoplodon densirostris/. Accessed: March 04, 2015.

Reeves, R.; Steward, B.; Clapham, P.; Powell, J. 2002. National Audubon Society Guide To Marine Mammals Of The World (National Audubon Society Field Guides). New York: Alfred A. Knopf. pp. 527.

Read AJ. 1999. Harbour porpoise - *Phocoena phocoena* (Linnaeus, 1758). In: Handbook of Marine Mammals (Ridgway SH, Harrison SR, eds.) Vol. 6: The second book of dolphins and porpoises, pp. 323-356.

Reichmuth, C. 2012. Psychophysical Studies of Auditory Masking in Marine Mammals: Key Concepts and New Directions Assessing the hearing capabilities of mysticete whales. p. 23 - 27. In: Popper, A.N and Hawkins, A. (eds.), The effects of noise on aquatic life. Springer, New York, NY. 695 p.

Reyes, JC. 1991. The conservation of small cetaceans: a review. Report prepared for the Secretariat of the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals. UNEP / CMS Secretariat, Bonn.

Rice, D. W.1998. Marine mammals of the world, systematics and distribution. Spec. Publ. No. 4, 231 p. The Society for Marine Mammalogy, Lawrence, KS. Downloaded at: <u>http://www.marinemammalscience.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/MarineMammalsOfTheWorld.pdf</u>. Downloaded on: March 7, 2015.

Richardson, W.; Würsig, B. 1997. Influences of man-made noise and other human actions on cetacean behaviour. In: Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 29(1-4), 183-209.

Richardson, W. J.; Finley, K. J.; Miller, G. W.; Davis, R. A.; Koski, W. R. 1995a. Feeding, Social And Migration Behavior Of Bowhead Whales, *Balaena Mysticetus*, In Baffin Bay Vs. The Beaufort Sea—Regions With Different Amounts Of Human Activity. Marine Mammal Science, 11: 1–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.1995.tb00272.x.

Richardson, W.J.; Greene Jr., C.R.; Malme, C.I.; Thomson, D.H. 1995b. pp. 15-32. In: Richardson, W.J. et al. 1995. Marine mammals and noise. Academic Press: San Diego. ISBN 0-12-588441-9. XVI, 576 pp.

Rickard, M. 2015. A spatio-temporal gap analysis of cetacean survey effort in the US Mid-and South Atlantic (Doctoral dissertation, Duke University).

Ridgway, S.; Howard, R. 1979. Dolphin Lung Collapse and Intramuscular Circulation During Free Diving: Evidence from Nitrogen Washout. Science, 1182-1183.

Rickard, M. 2015. A spatio-temporal gap analysis of cetacean survey effort in the US Mid-and SouthAtlantic (Doctoral dissertation, Duke University).Available at:http://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/handle/10161/9679Accessed on: October 17, 2015.

Risch, D; Castellote, M.; Clark, CW; Davis, G; Dugan, P; Hodge, L.; Kumar, A.; Lucke, K.; Mellinger, D.; Nieukirk, S.; Popescu, C.; Ramp, C.; Read, A.; Rice, A.; Silva, M.; Siebert, U.; Stafford, K.; Verdaat, H; Parijs, S. 2014. Seasonal migrations of North Atlantic minke whales: novel insights from large-scale passive acoustic monitoring networks. Movement Ecology 2014 2:24. doi: 10.1186/s40462-014-0024-3. Available at: <u>http://www.movementecologyjournal.com/content/pdf/s40462-014-0024-3.pdf</u>. Accessed December 14, 2014.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM. 2015a. Habitat-based cetacean density models for the Northwest Atlantic and Northern Gulf of Mexico. Manuscript in preparation.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM .2015b. Density Model for Atlantic Spotted Dolphin (Stenella frontalis) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 7.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM. 2015c. Density Model for Northern Bottlenose Whale (Hyperoodon ampullatus) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1,2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM. 2015d. Density Model for Killer Whale (Orcinus orca) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1, 2015-01-31. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM. 2015e. Density Model for Fin Whale (Balaenoptera physalus) Along the US East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 9.1, 2015-02-02. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015) Density Model for Atlantic White-Sided Dolphin (*Lagenorhynchus acutus*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 2.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015f) Density Model for Beaked Whales (*Mesoplodon spp.*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 4.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015g) Density Model for Blue Whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015h) Density Model for Bottlenose Dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 4.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015i) Density Model for Bryde's Whale (*Balaenoptera edeni*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015j) Density Model for Clymene Dolphin (*Stenella clymene*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1, 2015-01-31. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015k) Density Model for False Killer Whale (*Pseudorca crassidens*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1, 2015-01-31. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (20151) Density Model for East Coast Fraser's Dolphin (*Lagenodelphis hosei*), Preliminary Results, Version 1 - 2014-11-21. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015m) Density Model for Harbor Porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 3.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015n) Density Model for Humpback Whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 9.1, 2015-03-05. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (20150) Density Model for Kogia Whales (*Kogia spp.*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 3, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015p) Density Model for Melon-Headed Whale (*Peponocephala electra*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1, 2015-01-31. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015q) Density Model for Minke Whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 8.1, 2015-02-02. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015r) Density Model for North Atlantic Right Whale (*Eubalaena glacialis*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 5.3, 2015-04-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015s) Density Model for Pantropical Spotted Dolphin (*Stenella attenuata*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 2.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015t) Density Model for Pilot Whales (*Globicephala spp.*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 4.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015u) Density Model for Risso's Dolphin (*Grampus griseus*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 3.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015v) Density Model for Rough-Toothed Dolphin (*Steno bredanensis*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1, 2015-01-31. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015w) Density Model for Sei Whale (*Balaenoptera borealis*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 6.2, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Fujioka E, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, Khan CB, McLellan WM, Pabst DA, Lockhart GG (2015) Density Model for Short-Beaked Common Dolphin (Delphinus delphis) in the U.S. Atlantic: Supplementary Information, Version 3, 2015-10-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015y) Density Model for Sperm Whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 6.1, 2015-02-02. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015z) Density Model for Spinner Dolphin (*Stenella longirostris*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 1, 2015-01-31.Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Roberts JJ, Best BD, Mannocci L, Halpin PN, Palka DL, Garrison LP, Mullin KD, Cole TVN, McLellan WM (2015) Density Model for Striped Dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) Along the U.S. East Coast, Preliminary Results, Version 3.1, 2015-03-06. Marine Geospatial Ecology Lab, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.

Romano, T. A., Keogh, M. J., Kelly, C., Feng, P., Berk, L., Schlundt, C. E., Carder, D. A., &Finneran, J. J. (2004). Anthropogenic sound and marine mammal health: measures of the nervous and immune systems before and after intense sound exposure. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 61, 1124-1134. Doi: 10.1139/F04-055.

Schulte, D., & Taylor, C. R. (2012). Documenting spatial and temporal distribution of North Atlantic right whales off South Carolina and Northern Georgia 2011-2012 (Final Report to National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Contract No. WC113F-11-CN-0144). Accessed online: http://sero.nmfs.noaa.gov/protected_resources/right_whale/seus_sightings/documents/11_12_scga_final_r eport.pdf. Accessed on: September 22, 2015.

Schmidly, D.J. 1981. Marine mammals of the Southeastern United States coast and Gulf of Mexico. US Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Biological Services, Washington, D.C. FWS/OBS-80/41, 163 pp.

Selzer, L.A.; Payne, P.M. 1988. The Distribution Of White-Sided (*Lagenorhynchus Acutus*) And Common Dolphins (*Delphinus Delphis*) Vs. Environmental Features Of The Continental Shelf Of The Northeastern United States. Marine Mammal Science, 4: 141–153. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.1988.tb00194.x Mar Mamm Sci 4: 141-153. Accessed online: September 23, 2015

Siciliano, S.; Santos, M.C.O.; Vicente, A.F.C.; Alvarenga, F.S.; Zampirolli, E.; Brito J.L.; Azevedo, A.F.; and Pizzorno; J.L.A. 2004. Strandings and feeding records of Bryde's whales (*Balaenoptera edeni*) in south-eastern Brazil. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK 84:857-859.

Simmonds, M.; Dolman, S.; Weilgart, L. (eds.). 2003. Oceans of Noise: A WDCS Science Report. Whale and Dolphin Conservation Society: Chippenham, U.K. 165 pp. Available online: <u>http://www.okeanos-foundation.org/assets/Uploads/OceansofNoise.pdf</u>. Accessed: April 6, 2015.

Smith TD; Reeves RR; Josephson EA; Lund JN. (2012) Spatial and Seasonal Distribution of American Whaling and Whales in the Age of Sail. PLoS ONE 7(4): e34905. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034905 Available at: <u>http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0034905</u>. Accessed on: November 17, 2014.

Southall, B.L., and co-authors. 2007. Marine Mammal Noise Exposure Criteria: Initial Scientific Recommendations. Aquatic Mammals, volume 33 number 4, 2007.

Southall, B.L., Schusterman, R.J. and Kastak, D. 2000, "Masking in three pinnipeds: Underwater, low-frequency critical ratios." Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 108(3): 1322-1326.

State of New Jersey et al. v. National Science Foundation et al. 3:14-cv-04249 (D. N.J.). Federal Defendants' Brief in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief at 25 (July 7, 2014).

Strandenes, S., and S. Vaage, 1992, Signatures from clustered airguns. First Break, 19:305–312, doi: 10.3997/1365-2397.1992015.

Staudinger, M.D.; McAlarney, R.; Pabst, A.; W. McLellan. 2014. Foraging ecology and niche overlap in pygmy (*Kogia breviceps*) and dwarf (*Kogia sima*) sperm whales from waters of the US mid-Atlantic coast. *Marine Mammal Science*, 30(2): 626-655.

Taylor, B.L.; Baird, R.; Barlow J.; Dawson, S.M.; Ford, J.; Mead, J.G.; Notarbartolo di Sciara, G.; Wade, P.; Pitman, R.L. 2008. *Mesoplodon europaeus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2014.3. Available at: <u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>. Downloaded on 09 March 2015.

Taylor, B., Barlow, J., Pitman, R., Ballance, L., Klinger, T., DeMaster, D., Hildebrand, J., Urban, J., Palacios, D. and Mead, J. 2004. A call for research to assess risk of acoustic impact on beaked whale populations. Paper SC/56/E36 presented to the IWC Scientific Committee, July 2004, Sorrento, Italy. 4pp. Online at: <u>http://cetus.ucsd.edu/Publications/Reports/TaylorIWCSC-56-E36-2004.pdf</u> Accessed: November 10, 2015.

Thomas, L., Buckland, S.T., Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., Strindberg, S., 2013. Distance Sampling, in: Encyclopedia of Environmetrics. John Wiley & Sons

Thomas, L., Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Laake, J.L., Strindberg, S., Hedley, S.L., Bishop, J.R.B., Marques, T.A., Burnham, K.P., 2010. Distance software: design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 5–14. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01737.x

Tove, M. 1995. Live sighting of Mesoplodon cf. M. mirus, true's beaked whale. Mar Mamm Sci 11: 80-85. DOI: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.1995.tb00276.x

Tyack, P., M. Johnson, N. Aguilar Soto, A. Sturlese and P. T. Madsen. 2006. Extreme diving of beaked whales. Journal of Experimental Biology 209:4238–4253

US Dept. of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 2014. Compliance guide for right whale ship strike reduction rule (50 CFR § 224.105). Available at: <u>http://www.greateratlantic.fisheries.noaa.gov/shipstrike/doc/compliance_guide.pdf</u>. Accessed: May 27, 2015.

US Dept. of the Interior (USDOI). Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). Bureau Of Safety And Environmental Enforcement (BSEE). 2012. Joint NTL 2012-G01. Notice to Lessees and Operators (NTL) of Federal oil, gas, and Sulphur leases and pipeline right-of-way holders in the OCS, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Vessel Strike Avoidance and Inured/Dead Protected Species Reporting. Available at: http://www.boem.gov/2012-JOINT-G01/. Accessed May 27, 2015.

US DOI; BSEE. 2012. BSEE NTL 2012-G01. Notice to Lessees and Operators (NTL) of Federal oil, gas, and sulphur leases and pipeline right of-way holders in the OCS, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Marine trash and debris awareness and elimination. Available at: <u>http://www.bsee.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Notices-to-Lessees/2012/2012-BSEE-G01-pdf/</u>. Accessed March 4, 2015.

Waring, G.T., E. Josephson, K. Maze-Foley, and P.E. Rosel, Editors. 2015b. Draft U.S. Atlantic, Gulf of Mexico, and Caribbean draft marine mammal stock assessments - 2015. 524p. Available at: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/sars/pdf/atl2015_draft.pdf</u> Woods Hole, Massachusetts, National Marine Fisheries Service. Accessed: October 15, 2015.

Waring GT, Josephson E, Maze-Foley K, Rosel, PE, editors. 2015a. US Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments - 2014. NOAA Tech Memo NMFS NE 231; 361 p. doi: 10.7289/V5TQ5ZH0. Accessed August 20, 2015.

Waring, G.T., E. Josephson, C.P. Fairfield, K. Maze-Foley, editors. 2014. US Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments-2013. NOAA Tech Memo NMFS-NE-228; 475p. Online: http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/sars/pdf/ao2013_tm228.pdf. Accessed November 4, 2014.

Waring, G.T., E. Josephson, C.P. Fairfield, K. Maze-Foley, editors. 2013. US Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments-2012. 425p. Available at: http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/sars/pdf/ao2012.pdf. Accessed November 4, 2014.

http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/sars/ao2011.pdf <2011 sar>

Waring, G.T., E. Josephson, C.P. Fairfield-Walsh, and K. Maze-Foley, editors. 2007. US Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments -- 2007. NOAA Tech Memo NMFS NE 205; 415 p. Available at: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/sars/ao2007dowb-wn.pdf</u>. Accessed November 4, 2014.

Warner, G.; Erbe, C.; Hannay, D.(eds). 2010. Underwater sound measurements. Chapter 3. In: Reiser, C.M., D.W. Funk, R. Rodrigues, and D. Hannay (eds.). Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation during Open Water Shallow Hazards and Site Clearance Surveys by Shell Offshore Inc. in the Alaskan Chukchi Sea, July-October 2009: 90-Day Report. LGL Report P1112-1. Online: http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/permits/shell_openwater_report2009.pdf. Rep. from LGL Alaska Research Associates Inc. and JASCO Research Ltd. for Shell Offshore Inc, Nat. Mar. Fish. Serv., and US Fish and Wild. Serv. 104 pp, plus appendices.

Wartzok, D., A.N. Popper, J. Gordon, and J. Merrill. 2004. Factors affecting the responses of marine mammals to acoustic disturbance. Mar. Tech. Soc. J. 37:6-15.

Webster, WD; Goley, PD; Pustis, J; Gouveia, JF. 1995. Seasonality in Cetacean strandings along the coast of North Carolina. Brimleyana 23: 41-51.

Weilgart, Linda S. 2007. A Brief Review of Known Effects of Noise on Marine Mammals. International Journal of Comparative Psychology, 20(2). Available at: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/11m5g19h. Accessed: May 19, 2015.

Wenzel, F.W., P.T. Polloni, J.E. Craddock, D.P. Gannon, J.R. Nicolas, A.J. Read, P.E. Rosel. 2013. Food habits of Sowerby's beaked whales, Mesoplodon bidens, taken in the western North Atlantic pelagic drift gillnet fishery. Fishery. Bulletin. 111(4):381-389.

Whitt AD, Dudzinski K, Laliberté JR. 2013. North Atlantic right whale distribution and seasonal occurrence in nearshore waters off New Jersey, USA, and implications for management. Endangered Species Res 20:59-69.

Wiley, D. N., Asmutis, R. A., Pitchford, T. D., & Gannon, D. P. (1995). Stranding and mortality of humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, in the mid-Atlantic and southeast United States, 1985-1992. *Fishery Bulletin*, *93*(1), 196-205.

Wimmer, T., and H. Whitehead. 2004. Movements and distribution of northern bottlenose whales, *Hyperoodon ampullatus*, on the Scotian Slope and in adjacent waters. Canadian Journal of Zoology 82(11):1782-1794. Wynne, K.; Shwartz, M. 1999. 'Guide to marine mammals & turtles of the US Atlantic & Gulf of Mexico'. Rhode Island Sea Grant. 114 pages.

Wong, S.; Whitehead, H. 2014. Seasonal occurrence of sperm whales (Physeter macrocephalus) around Kelvin Seamount in the Sargasso Sea in relation to oceanographic processes. Available at: <u>http://whitelab.biology.dal.ca/hw/Wong_Whitehead_2014.pdf</u>. Accessed: November 17, 2014.

Würsig, B., S. K. Lynn, T. A. Jefferson, and K. D. Mullin. 1998. Behavior of cetaceans in the northern Gulf of Mexico relative to survey ships and aircraft. Aquatic Mammals 24:41-50

Yochem, P.K. and S. Leatherwood. 1985. Blue whale Balaenoptera musculus (Linnaeus, 1758). Pages 193-240 in Ridgway, S.H. and R. Harrison, eds. Handbook of marine mammals. Volume 3: The sirenians and baleen whales. San Diego, California: Academic Press.

Young, G.A. 1991. Concise methods for predicting the effects of underwater explosions on marine life. NAVSWC No. 91-22. Naval Surface Warfare Centre, Silverspring, Maryland, USA. Available at: <u>http://www.dtic.mil/cgi-bin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA241310&Location=U2&doc=GetTRDoc.pdf</u>. Accessed: June 17, 2015.

Ziolkowski, A. 1970. A method for calculating the output pressure waveform from an air gun. Geophys. J. R. Astr. Soc. 21, 137-161.